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30 30 30 30 30
12 12 12 12 12
20,609 f 18,358 ... 15,082 | ... 13,880 | ... 12,702
2,298,728 | 2,047,651 1,682,246 | 1,548,175 | 1,416,781
e, 7,655 | .....6:214 | 7,199 14816 ) 5,005
853,839 693,110 802,976 537,177 558,258
12,994 12,144 1 7,883 | 9,064 | ... 7,897
1,444,889 | 1,354,542 879,270 | 1,010,999 858,523
e, 63% | 66% o, 520 ol 6% o] 61% .
] Qag) @S0 129 | ©D [ .2
(16,508) (50,193) 14,389 (7,696) 3,012
10,301 f 6,699 | 5,91 ... 6,328 ... 5,438
1,148,974 747,206 668,236 705,825 606,555
4.43 2.80 2.49 2.58 2.16
) 494 312 278 288 241
4.42 2.80 2.48 2.58 2.16
) 493 312 277 288 241
e, 8,162 | ...9.874 | ... 5,819 1. 3,518 | 1,971
910,389 | 1,101,346 626,743 392,308 219,845
e, 3,449 | 03482 3,248 | ... 2,431 | 1,910
384,701 388,382 362,282 271,154 213,041
18,216 19,023 1. 14,313 ... 10,021 1 . 9,562
2,031,813 | 2,121,825 1,596,472 | 1,117,742 | 1,066,545
e, 4,082 | 1,926 | ... 3,931 | 3,384 |.....3015
455,306 214,826 438,464 377,451 336,293
89225 67,977 |, 64,035 |....... 39,367 )., 37,543
7,721,357 | 7,582,155 7.142.464 | 4,390,995 | 4,187,546
e, 1,434 1 982 i, 981 . 1,024 1 ... 1,456
159,948 109,532 109,421 114,217 162,402
e 11,305 9,994 ) 8,046 | ... 5,355 | 6,006
1,260,960 | 1,114,731 897,451 597,297 669,909
34008 f 32,760 1. 32,912 | ... 29,842 | ... 27,413
3,793,029 | 3,654,050 3,671,004 | 3,328,577 | 3,057,646
165 I 0.825 | ...0.660 | .. 0.560 | .....0:.480 | . ..0:400
92 74 62 54 45
12,713 9,208 ) 5,574 | 6,584 ... 7,205
1,418,008 | 1,027,060 621,724 734,379 803,646

20/253




EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

ooooooo
3,084 735 (10,916) | ... (1,435) | ... 941
(343,989) 81,982 (1,217,571) (160,060) (104,959)
. K13,240) f G924 | ... D407 (3,603) ... (6,478)
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17,000 15,000 14,200 11,300 9,500
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2007
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2016 21
100 12.2
13.9 5.3 6.1 2019 21
1.0
60 1958 BankAmericard
1976 10
2008 NYSE 1PO
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Visa Direct
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QR
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Visa Token Service VTS
16
PANs
2018 VTS 10 40 2018
20
PANs
VTS
2018
26 40
2017 Visa Checkout
Open Platform VCOP VCOP
2019
Secure Remote Commerce SRC
SRC
2018 EMV SRC Visa Digital
Commerce Program DCP DCP
EMV SRC
DCP SRC VTS DCP 2019
NFC
NFC
EMV
2018
2017 15
1.7

Translink 2018
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200
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3D 3-D Secure
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10
ID Visa ID Intelligence
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e
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MasterCard American Express Discover JCB
UnionPay JCB
2017
@
T AP dyis- T oof A -
EAF o« o e dr Ao ==} LE AR ICH W A e
7, 565 3,814 1, 071 253 159
10, 516 5, 242 1. 085 2640 173
170 BT, 46 7.7 34 2.6
3,243 1, 825 113 114 58
JCB Diners Club
1130 2018
Maestro Cirrus
JCB
STAR NYCE Pulse Interac
EFTPOS Mir
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VocaLink Holdings Limited

OFAC

WeChat
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Recognized Payment System

PSR
PSR IFR
IFR
EU
EU
IFR
EU
PSD2
PSD2
EU
Brexit
PSD2
2007 2008 1PO
2007
USA 2007
2007 10
2016
10
SEC
http://www.sec.gov
http://corporate.visa.com
SEC 10- 10- -

http://investor.visa.com
http://investor.visa.com
FD SEC

SEC

2018 30
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LAC
) @ 100 CEMEA
Visa
International
Service
Association
USA
Visa U.S.A. @ 100
Inc.
8,967,651
Visa Worldwide
Pte. Limited 100
_ 18,784,000 100
Visa Europe
Limited
. _®
Visa
International
Holdings, Inc. 100
42,895,342
Visa 100
International
Holdings, Inc.
2018 30 17,000 9,000 8,000
1,000
5,930
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EU GDPR EU
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GDPR
GDPR
2020
2020
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41/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

EMV POS
EMV
EMVCo PCI Security Standards Council

42/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

PIN

POS

43/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

BCCI
EU
2016 EU Brexit
2017 EU 50 EU
EU EU
Brexit EU
EU
EU
Brexit EU
EU
Brexit
EU Brexit

44/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

2018

45/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

46/253



15

2028

47/253

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

15



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

oOoOooodn
CEQ
200
2017 12 22
1.1 2018 30
2018
1.1 2018 30
16
2018 2017 2016
GAAP GAAP
30 (€)
2018 2017
2017 2016
2018 2017 2016
( )
10,301 6,699 5,991 54 % 12 %
4.42 2.80 2.48 58 % 13 %
@ 10,729 8,335 6,862 29 % 21 %

@ 4.61 3.48 2.84 32 % 22 %
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2018

49
2017
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2018
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2017
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1.5

49/253

1.1

2017

137

1.1

72

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

2018

6.2

193
51

192

2018

110

12

195

oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

Ogoooood
2016
88
2016 152
60
92
56 9
2016
1.9
693
1.2
2016
74
27 47
2016
145
54
01
2016 255
GAAP GAAP
2018 2017 2016 GAAP
GAAP
2018 30
OO ¢ ) @
7,655 63 % (148) 2,505 10,301 4.42
(195) 1% (193) 51 49) (0.02)
(600) 3 % - 137 463 0.20
- - . 1,133 (1,133) (0.49)
- - % - (1,147) 1,147 0.49
6,860 67 % (341) 2,679 10,729 4.61
2017 30
0) () @
6,214 66 % (450) 4,995 6,699 2.80
(192) 1 % - 71 121 0.05
- - - (1,515) 1,515 0.63
6,022 67 % (450) 3,551 8,335 3.48
2016 30
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ooO00000
O ) ®

7,199 52 % 129 2,021 5,991 2.48
(110) 1% - 38 72 0.03

- -y - 88 (88) (0.04)
(152) 1% - 56 96 0.04
(1,877) 2 % - 693 1,184 0.49

- ) 4 @7 1) (0.02)

- ) (145) (54) (1) (0.04)

- - % (255) - (255) (0.11)
5,060 66 % (345) 2,815 6,862 2.84

600
1.4
600
17
63 124 .29
58 7.2
600
VE 56
2018
7.5 2018 30
4.2 2018
11
30 12 11 2017 30
2016
) ™
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30 30 30 30 30 30
12 @ ) 12 o o) 12 o 5, )
1,441 1,309 10% 2,443 2,177 12 % 3,885 3,486 11 %
® 1,496 1,373 9% 1,757 1,491 18 % 3,253 2,864 14 %
%) 562 506 1% 363 306 19 % 925 812 14 %
3,499 3,188 0% 4,562 3,974 15 % 8,063 7,162 13 %
562 544 3% 2,435 2,348 4% 2,097 2,802 4%
® 4,061 3,732 9% 6,998 6,322 11 % 11,060 10,054 10 %
(@] (©]
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
30 30 30 30 30 30
12 Q@ 12 (€)) 12 ()] 12 ()] 12 (€)) 12 (€))
1,309 1,079 ) 2,177 1,720 274 3,486 2,799 25 %
® 1,373 1,320 4% 1,491 454 229 2,864 1,774 8L %
™ 506 450 12 % 306 148 107 % 812 508 36 %
® 3,188 2,850 2% 3,974 2,321 % 7,162 5,70 9%
544 520 5 % 2,348 1,775 24 2,892 2,294 26 %
®E 3,732 3,360 1% 6,322 4,096 54% 10,054 7,465 3% %
)
o ™
2018 30 2017 30 2018 30 2017 30
2 12 12 12
2017 30 2016 30 2017 30 2016 30
12 ® 12 o 12 ® 12 ®
® ® ® ®
12% 9% o7 % 1% 0% 25% 250
(©)
18% 2% 229% 4% 14% 1% 6% 6506
(O]
19% 15%  107% 1056 14% 2% 36% 36%
® 15% 11% 71% 74% 13% 10% 39% 40%
a% ® 3w 33 % % 26% 27%
® 11% 7 54% 57% 10% 8% 35% 36%
2018 2017
2016 30 12 2018 2017
2016 30 12
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2016 30 477
177 2016
V' PAY
2016 12 31
2018 2017 30 12
1)
2018 2017
2017 2016
2018 2017 2016
124,320 111,215 83,159 12% 34%
2016
2016 21
2016 30
2018 2017 2016
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0000000
2016 21
2016
c
2016 21
2018 2017 2016
30 TN
2018 2017 2018 2017
2017 2016 2017 2016
2018 2017 2016 @
(
9,332 8,704 7,851 628 853 7% 11 %
11,277 9,654 7,040 1,623 2,614 17 % 37 %
® - - 191 (191) NM (100)%
20,609 18,358 15,082 2,251 3,276 12 % 22 %
2016 2016 21 2016 30
2018 2017
2017 2016
2018 2017
2018
2018 2017 2016
2016 2016 21
2018 2017 2018 2017
2017 2016 2017 2016
2018 2017 2016 @
(
8,018 7,975 6,747 943 1,228 12% 18%
9,027 7,786 6,272 1,241 1,514 16% 24%
7,211 6,321 4,649 890 1,672 14% 36%
944 841 823 103 18 12% 2%
(5,490) (4,565) (3,409) (926) (1,156) 20% 344
20,609 18,358 15,082 2,251 3,276 12% 22%
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0000000
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2018 2017 13
39
2017
12 34 2018 2017
2018 2017
2018 2017
14 79 2017
2018 2017
2018 2017
2018 2017 2016
2018 2017 2018 2017
2017 2016 2017 2016
2018 2017 2016 @
¢
3,170 2,628 2,226 542 402 21 % 18 %
988 922 869 66 53 7% 6 %
686 620 538 66 82 11 % 15 %
446 409 389 37 20 9% 5 %
613 556 502 57 54 10 % 11 %
1,145 1,060 796 85 264 8 % 33 %
607 19 2 588 17 M NM
- - 1,877 - (1,877) M (100) %
® 7,655 6,214 7,199 1,441 (985) 23 % @)%
2016 2016 21 2016 30
2018 2017 2016
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2016 1.9
2017
2018 2017
2018 2018 2018
FIFA b
30 ®
2018 2017 2018 2017
2017 2016 2017 2016
2018 2017 2016 @
(
(612) (563) 427) (49) (136) 9% 32 %
464 113 556 351 (443) 311 % (80)%
(148) (450) 129 302 (579) (67)% W
2016 2016
2016 21 2016 30
2018 2017 2017 2016
2018
292 2017
2016 74
2016 145
2016 255
2018 20 2017 43 2018
2017
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2017 12 22
2018 161
2017
1.5
71
2017 43 2016 25 2017
2016
2017
2016-09 2017
70
2016
1.9
2016
2016 88
2016 255
2017 12 22
35 21 21
2018 2018
24.5 2019 21
1.1 2018
2018
15.5
15.5 1.1 2018
ASU 2018-05
2019
2018 2017
2018 2017

2018 30

(€))

58/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

12

59/253

OooooOodd
12,806 2,505 19.6%
2 51
600 137
- 1,133
- (1,147)
13,408 2,679 20.0%
2017 30
(€))
11,694 4,995 42.7%
192 71
- (1,515)
11,886 3,551 29.9%
30
2018 2017 2016
12,713 9,208 5,574
(3.084) 735 (10,916)
(11,240) (5,924) 7,477
(101) 236 (34)
(1.712) 4,255 2,101




2018 2017
2017
2018 450
1.9
2018 2017 2016
244
17
2018 2017
2017
2016 2016
2.8
2018
1.9 2017 1.75
600
2017
6.9 1.6
2017 2.5
2016 2015 12
15.9
1.4
11 17
2017 12 31
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397 3.0 2018 30
4.0 2022 27 2018
30 2018 30
2018 SEC
2021
2018 MDL
17 2018 30
1.5
2017 2.5 30 2017
10 2017 1.75 2017
2018 30 Standard and Poor"s
Moody"s
A-1 P-1
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2018
931
2018 30 7.6
2018 MDL
600 150
2018 30 1.5
2018 30 MDL
2012
6.2 4.1
2018 600
2018
2018
17
2018 63
124.38 63 58 7.2
600
11
2018 7.5
2018 30 4.2 2018
11
2018 1.9 2018 10 16
0.25
2018 12 574

11
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2018
30
@ 537 4,041 4,140 15,719 24,437
@ 1,375 410 198 542 2,525
® 180 225 164 178 747
® 88 177 177 663 1,105
® 574 - . - 574
®) 1,317 . B} - 1,317
QIOIC) 4,071 4,853 4,679 17,102 30,705
20
16
2018 10 16 2018 11 16
2018 12 574
2016 21 100
1.0
2018 30
2018 30 1.4
2018 30 99
34
11
2018 30

2.8
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2018 30
21

2018 600

17
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17
2018 2017 30
3.7 3.1 2018 30
10
2018 30 280
350
2016 21 100
4.0 1.0
2018 30
10 130
2018 30
10

2.0 2018 30
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18.8
2018 2017 30 5.1
6.4 100
2018 30 31 2018
2017 30 3.5
1.8
2018 2017 30 1.1
0.8 0.9
10
206 35
2018 2017 30 0.4
0.5 0.4
10
148 13

2019 2019
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2018 30 115 72
2018 30
@ ©)
2,149,201,347(3) 2,000,595,297,471(4)
2,003, 366,656,020
5,637,289 19,362,711
25,000,000
123,525,418
2007 EIP 2015
ESPP 162,313,945
2018 30
1
0.0001 1,768,435,119 (€]
2@
0.0001 369,038,802 O]
3
0.0001 11,727,426 A
4
0.0001 2,480,466 O]
4
0.0001 3,156,823 O]
- 2,154,838,636 - -
123,525,418
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2018
2018 2017 10

2018 30 2018 30
336,071 825,714
336,071 825,714
116.52 105.82
12,997 11,803
39,158,218.26 87,380,259.98
4,367,707,665 9,746,394,198
336,071 825,714
336,071 825,714
116.52 105.82
12,997 11,803

39,158,218.26

87,380,259.98

4,367,707,665

9,746,394,198

17,119,660

17,119,660

1PO

2018

30

oOoOooodn
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- 50,777.86

2013 10 . 507,778,531
- 5,663,763
(1,329.49) 49,448 .37

2014 30 (13,294,875) 494,483,656
(148,291) 5,515,471
145,546.10 194,994 .47

2015 30 @ 1,455,461,044 1,949,944,700
16,234,212 21,749,683
(7,963.92) 187,030.55

2016 30 (79,639,240) 1,870,305,460
(888,296) 20,861,388
(5.,265.83) 181,764.71

2017 30 (52,658,339) 1,817,647,121
(587,351) 20,274,036
(4,921.20) 176,843.51

2018 30 (49,212,002) 1,768,435,119
(548,911) 19,725,125

2015 30 2015
USA

)
. 36,903.88

2013 10 - 369,038,802
- 4,116,259
0 36,903.88

2014 30 0 369,038,802
0 4,116,259
0 36,903.88

2015 30 0 369,038,802
0 4,116,259
0 36,903.88

2016 30 0 369,038,802
0 4,116,259
0 36,903.88

2017 30 0 369,038,802
0 4,116,259
0 36,903.88

2018 30 0 369,038,802
0 4,116,259

123,525,418
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- 2,694.72

2013 10 - 26,947,201
- 300,569
(461.73) 2,232.99

2014 30 (4,617,347) 22,329,854
(51,501) 249,068
(268.56) 1,964.43

2015 30 (2,685,546) 19,644,308
(29,955) 219,113
(208.15) 1,756.28

2016 30 @ (2,081,466) 17,562,842
(23,217) 195,895
(484.68) 1,271.61

2017 30 (4,846,783) 12,716,059
(54,061) 141,835
(98.86) 1,172.74

2018 30 (988,633) 11,727,426
(11,027) 130,807

549,945

- 248.05

2016 21 - 2,480,466
- 27,667
0 248.05

2016 30 0 2,480,466
0 27,667
0 248.05

2017 30 0 2,480,466
0 27,667
0 248.05

2018 30 0 2,480,466
0 27,667
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- 315.68
2016 21 - 3,156,823

- 35,211

0 315.68
2016 30 0 3,156,823

0 35,211

0 315.68
2017 30 0 3,156,823

0 35,211

0 315.68
2018 30 0 3,156,823

0 35,211
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()

99

100.00

The

Depositary Trsut Company

@

@

@

100

100.00

USA

(€Y}

€Y}

100

100.00

100

100.00
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2018 30
@
@ | 19355
The V. 46 134,176,902 7.63
e Vanguard Group 100
®3) 10055
BlackRock. 1 121,832,516 6.90
ackRock, Inc. - &5
02210
® 91,031,323 5.18
FMR LLC 245
- 347,040,741 19.71
2019 11 SEC SC 13G/A
2019 SEC SC 13G/A
2019 13 SEC SC 136G
1
@ )
28255
Bank of America 100 64,285,884 17.42
Corporation
JP 10017-2070
JP Morgan Chase & Co. 270
JpP 19801-2920 40,272,211 10.91
JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. 201 15
94104
Wells Fargo & Com
9 pany 420
30,108,730 8.16
10152-0002
We!ls Fargo Risk 375
Services, Inc.
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57104
Citigroup Inc.
60 701 29,547,340 8.01
Citibank, N.A. 10013-2375
390
10019-6036
20,778,727 5.63
Barclays Bank PLC
1301
- 184,992,892 50.13
2018 30
1
@ @
Sumitomo Mitsui Card 105-8011 4,173,490 35.59
. 20
Company, Limited
- 4,173,490 35.59
2018 30
(€]
UK ECAN 8AF
- 422,7 17.04
WorldPay (UK) Limited 25 % 0
E14 SHP 29 416,832 16.80
Barclays Aldersgate
Investments Limited
EC2V 7AE
LBG Equity Investments 10 305,352 12.31
Limited @
E14 5HQ 224,333 9.04
HSBC Bank plc
EH2 2YB
184,077 7.42
The Royal Bank of Scotland 36 ’
plc
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175,311 7.07
Chase Paymentech Europe ’
Limited
Allied Irish Banks, 135,085 5.44
p-l.c.
- 1,863,695 75.13
2018 30
Lloyds Bank plc 2018 10
(€))
75201 13
219,300 6.95
BPCE S.A. 50
- 219,300 6.95
2018 30
EIP ESPP 2018 30
EIP ESPP
13
a
a
12,401,143 75.30? 162,313,945
2018 30 EIP 5,788,840 5,204,454
999,416 ESPP
408,433
ESPP
2018 30 EIP ESPP 145 17
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2018 2017 30

2018

.195
.210
.210
.210

o O o o

2017

.165
.165
.165
.165

o O o o

2018 10 16 2018 11 16
2018 12 0.25

78/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
58.88 76.92 83.79 106.84 150.64
6,567 8,580 9,346 11,917 16,802
45.03 48.80 66.12 75.17 104.90
5,023 5,443 7,375 8,384 11,701
2015
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
127.90 132.50 136.69 143.14 147.71 150.64
14,266 14,779 15,246 15,966 16,476 16,802
116.71 125.32 129.53 131.15 137.00 142 .54
13,018 13,978 14,448 14,628 15,281 15,899
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11
35
2018 11 30
60

169,962 519,931 689,893

97,999 420,673 518,672

51,446 197,178 248, 624D

67,223 172,192 239,415

45,784 191,728 237,512

107,832 - 107,832

68,692 - 68,692

57,368 . 57,368

24,872 . 24,872

18,428 . 18,428

5,471 - 5,471

1,404 - 1,404

742 - 742

) ) ®

17 1,044,431 1,984,578 3,029,009

2,880
9,100 5,126
9,100
Lynne Biggar
56
2016
2013 11 2016 Time Inc.
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1992 2013

American Express Company 2012 2013 11
2011 us
Voya Financial, Inc.
Ryan Mclnerney

43

2013

200
JP 2010
2013 75,000 14
23 20
McKinsey & Company
Vasant M. Prabhu

58

2015

NBC NBCUniversal 2014
2015 NBC
NBC
Marriott International
Starwood
Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc. 2004 2014
35 Safeway, Inc.

The McGraw-Hill Companies

PepsiCola International
PepsiCo

Booz, Allen & Hamilton

Mattel, Inc.

Ellen Richey

69
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2007
2017 2014
Washington Mutual, Inc.
Providian Financial Corporation
Farella, Braun &
Martel
Lewis F. Powell, Jr.
William M. Sheedy
51
1993
50
2008 1PO
Rajat Taneja
54
2013 11
IT
Electronic Arts Inc.
2011 10 2013 11
IT
Microsoft Corporation 2011
2007 2011
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Ellie Mae, Inc.

Kelly Mahon Tullier

52
2014
PepsiCo, Inc.
2011 2014
Frito-Lay, Inc.
Baker Botts LLP
Sidney A. Fitzwater
2020 10
2018 12
Lloyd A. Carney
56
Nuance Communications Inc.
Brocade Communications Systems,
Inc. Cypress Semiconductor
Corporation Micromuse, Inc.
2018
ChaSerg Technology Acquisition Corp
2007
Carney Global Ventures, LLC
2013 2017 11
2008 2012 Xsigo
Systems
2003 2006

International Business Machines Corporation 1BM

Wentworth Institute of Technology
Lesley College
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Juniper Networks,
Inc.
Nortel Networks Inc.
Bay Networks, Inc.

Mary B. Cranston
70

Chemours Company MyoKardia, Inc.

Exponent, Inc.
GrafTech International, Inc.
International Rectifier Corporation

Pillsbury

Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP

1999 2006 2006 12

2012
30
2002
National Law Journal 100
500

Francisco Javier Fernandez-Carbajal
63

ALFA ALFA S.A.B. de C.V.
CEMEX S.A.B. de C.V.
Fomento Economico Mexicano, S.A.B. de C.V.

El Puerto de Liverpool,

S.A.B. de C.V. Fresnillo, plc

Grupo Aeroportuario del
Pacifico, S.A.B. de C.V. Grupo Bimbo,
S.A_B. de C.V. Grupo Gigante,
S.A.B. de C.V. Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B.
de C.V. IXE IXE Grupo

Financiero S.A.B. de C.V.
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2002
2005

Servicios Administrativos Contry
S.A. de C.V.
2000 2002 BBVA BBVA
Bancomer

BBVA Grupo Financiero BBVA Bancomer, S._A.
1991 BBVA
1999 10 2000 1995 10

1999 10

Instituto Tecnolégico y de Estudios Superiores de Monterrey

BBVA
BBVA
Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.
MetLife Inc.
Affinion Group Holdings, Inc. Affinion Group,
Inc.
2016 12
2016 2016 10
Intersection
2015 2016 TowerBrook
Capital Partners L.P.
2011 2014 48
2014 NY/NJ 2014 NY/NJ Super Bowl Host
Company
2007
2010 2005 2007
2000 2005
23
1985 1987

1981 1985
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67

71

2010

2004

2000
Corporation

John F. Lundgren

Callaway Golf Company

Staples, Inc.

2016
2016 12

2010

The Stanley Works
2004

1995
James River Corporation 1997
Fort James Corporation

Robert W. Matschullat
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Stanley Black & Decker, Inc.

Black & Decker

1997
2000

14

The Clorox Company

The Walt Disney Company

McKesson Corporation
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated

The Seagram Company Limited

2013
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2012 11 2015
2006 2006 10 2005 2006
2004 2005
1995 2000
1991 1995
2002 2018 2002 2007
1992 1995
42 100
Denise M. Morrison
64
Campbell Soup Company
2011 8 2018
2010 10 2018 2010 10 2011
2007 10 2010
2005
2007 USA Campbell USA 2003 2005
Kraft Foods, Inc.
2001 2003
2001
2000 Nabisco Down the Street
1998 2000
1997 1998
1995 1997
1984 1995 Nestle SA
1982 1984
1975 1982

Boston College
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61

Inc.

2004 11

Institute

AIG

64

15

Suzanne Nora Johnson

Intuit Inc.

2007

21

John A. C. Swainson

Assurant Inc.

Corporation CA, Inc.
Cadence Design Systems Inc.

2017 11

2012

2016 11
Dell Inc.
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American International Group,
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The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

Global Markets

Broadcom

Siris Capital Group
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2010 2012
Silver Lake Partners
2005 2009 12
CA Technologies 2004 11 2009 12
2004 2004 11 1BM
1997 2004 1BM
1BM
1BM 26
1BM
1BM
1BM
1BM
Maynard G. Webb, Jr.
63
Salesforce.com. Inc.
Extensity, Inc. Gartner, Inc.
Hyperion Solutions Corporation
LiveOps, Inc. Niku Corporation
Yahoo! Inc.

Webb Investment Network
Everwise Corporation

2008 2013
2006 12 2011

2002 2006

eBay Inc. 1999 2002

eBay Technologies
1998 1999 Gateway,
Inc.
1995 1998
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2018

2018 2017 2016

2018

C > C )Y  H® ¢ C H® ¢ HY® ¢ HY® ¢

2018 1,300,038 - 8,693,984 3,500,008 5,973,500 - 26,416 19,493,946
2017 1,150,799 - 11,883,208 2,749,995 5,875,000 - 75,362 21,734,454
2018 1,000,038 - 5,848,193 1,999,994 3,704,000 1,215 16,500 12,569,940
2017 850,032 - 3,017,648 1,387,503 3,221,500 1,189 16,200 8,494,072
2016 850,032 3,125,000 1,757,160 1,031,255 1,230,375 15,652 124,626 8,134,100
2018 900,035 - 6,777,537 2,250,003 3,333,600 3,351 21,500 13,286,026
2017 750,029 - 4,363,957 1,437,500 2,842,500 3,259 20,066 9,417,311
2016 750,029 - 3,984,063 1,476,498 1,153,125 15,552 22,550 7,401,817
2018 900,035 - 6,803,356 2,125,007 3,306,600 1,769 17,750 13,154,517
2017 750,029 - 4,575,318 1,549,999 2,820,000 1,730 17,450 9,714,526
2016 750,029 - 3,611,865 1,597,002 960,938 15,516 18,600 6,953,950
2018 675,026 - 3,075,525 999,997 1,636,767 1,552 33,750 6,422,617
2017 600,023 - 1,962,161 769,997 1,353,600 1,516 23,350 4,710,647
2018 2017 2016
FASB
ASC 718
13
2018
ASC 718
EPS 2018 2015 11
19 2018 11 30 2016 11 19 2019 11 30
2017 11 19 2020 11 30
2016 11 2017 11 EPS
3,499,963 5,194,021 10,388,041
2,000,042 3,848,151 7,696,302
2,249,992 4,527,545 9,055,089
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2018

2018

2018

13

2017
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2,125,017 4,678,339 9,356,678
1,000,021 2,075,504 4,151,007
2016
FASB ASC 718
( VIP VIP
2018 11 15
C ) D)

5,973,500 4,706,000 1,267,500

3,704,000 2,534,000 1,170,000

3,333,600 2,280,600 1,053,000

3,306,600 2,280,600 1,026,000

1,636,767 1,128,897 507,870

2018
401
1 2
CH® P C )

16,416 10,000 26,416
16,500 16,500
16,500 5,000 21,500
16,500 1,250 17,750
16,500 17,250 33,750
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2018 401 16,500

5,000 11,000
PAC 2018
5,000 5,000 1,250
6,250 2018
PAC 2018 5,000
5,000

)

http://investor.visa.com
94119 193243
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corporatesecretary@visa.com 94119
193243

board@visa.com
193243

http://investor.visa.com

businessconduct@visa.com
888 289-9322
http://ww.usa.att.com/traveler/access numbers/index.jsp
https://visa.alertline.com
94119 193243

2018 11

10 2018 2018

2018

http://investor.visa.com
SEC
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https://usa.visa.com/about-visa/operating-responsibly.html

527

25,000

2018 CPA-

CPA-

ESG

ESG

ESG
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154,187 2018
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30,862
15,000
PAC
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2018
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1 2 3
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125,000 185,047 5,000 315,047

150,000 185,047 20,000 355,047

125,000 185,047 0 310,047

62,500 215,909(4) 171’477(5) 449,886
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$ 8,162 \ 910,389 $ 9,874 \1,101,346
( ) 1,491 166,306 1,031 114,998
)
98 10,931 82 9,146
3,449 384,701 3,482 388,382
1,582 176,456 1,422 158,610
1,208 134,740 1,132 126,263
) 1,324 147,679 1,106 123,363
340 37,924 344 38,370
562 62,685 550 61,347
18,216 2,031,813 19,023 2,121,825
( ) 4,082 455,306 1,926 214,826
538 60,009 591 65,920
( ) 2,472 275,727 2,253 251,300
15,194 1,694,739 15,110 1,685,369
) 27,558 3,073,819 27,848 3,106,166
1,165 129,944 1,226 136,748
$ 69,225 \7,721,357 $ 67,977 \7,582,155
$ 183 \ 20,412 $ 179 \ 19,966
2,168 241,819 2,003 223,415
) 1,325 147,791 1,106 123,363
901 100,498 757 84,436
2,834 316,104 2,089 233,007
1,160 129,386 1,129 125,929
1,300 145,002

( ) 1,749 195,083
17) 1,434 159,948 982 109,532
11,305 1,260,960 9,994 1,114,731
16,630 1,854,910 16,618 1,853,572
16) 4,618 515,092 5,980 667,009
1,304 145,448
2,666 297,366 1,321 147,344
35,219 3,928,327 35,217 3,928,104
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2,201 255,538 2,326 259,442
3,179 354,586 3,200 356,928
Q) (781) (52) (5,800)
16,678 1,860,264 16,900 1,885,026
11,318 1,262,410 9,508 1,060,522
an (1,896) 73 8,142
(61) (6,804) (76) (8.477)
60 6,692 (36) (4,015)
565 63,020 917 102,282
547 61,012 878 97,932
34,006 3,793,029 32,760 3,654,050
$ 69,225 \7,721,357  $ 67,977  \7,582,155
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$ 8,918 \ 994,714 $ 7,975 \ 889,532 $ 6,747 \ 752,560

9,027 1,006,872 7,786 868,450 6,272 699,579
7,211 804,315 6,321 705,044 4,649 518,549
944 105,294 841 93,805 823 91,797
(5,491) (612,466) (4,565)  (509,180) (3,409)  (380,240)
20,609 2,298,728 18,358 2,047,651 15,082 1,682,246
3,170 353,582 2,628 293,127 2,226 248,288
988 110,202 922 102,840 869 96,928
686 76,516 620 69,155 538 60,009
446 49,747 409 45,620 389 43,389
613 68,374 556 62,016 502 55,993
1,145 127,713 1,060 118,232 796 88,786
17 607 67,705 19 2,119 2 223
1,877 209,361
7,655 853,839 6,214 693,110 7,199 802,976
12,954 1,444,889 12,144 1,354,542 7,883 879,270
(612) (68,262) (563) (62,797) 427) (47,628)
464 51,755 113 12,604 556 62,016
(148) (16,508) (450) (50,193) 129 14,389
12,806 1,428,381 11,694 1,304,349 8,012 893,658
16 2,505 279,408 4,995 557,142 2,021 225,422
$ 10,301  \1,148,974 $ 6,609 \ 747,206 $ 5,991 \ 668,236
@ 2016 21 2016 30
2016 30

2016 30
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$ 4.43 \ 494 $ 2.8 \ 312§ 2.49 \ 278
$ 7.28 \ 812 $ 4.62 \ 515 § 4.10 \ 457
$ 17.72 \1,976  $ 11.21 \1,250 $ 9.94 \ 1,109

1,792 1,845 1,906

245 245 245

12 14 19
$  4.42 \ 493 $ 2.8 \ 312 $ 2.48 \ 277
$ 7.2 \ 811 $ 461 \ 514 § 4.09 \ 456
$ 17.69 \1,973  $ 11.19 \1,248 § 9.93 \ 1,108

2,329 2,395 2,414
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12 14 19
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$ 10,301 \1,148,974 $ 6,699 \ 747,206 $ 5,991 \ 668,236

94 10,485 60 6,692 51 5,689
(19) (2,119) (24) (2.677) (18) (2,008)
(215) (23,981) 1 112 ®) (335)
50 5,577 1 112
16 1,785 183 20,412 (106)  (11,823)
) (558) (54) (6,023) 36 4,015

5 558 32 3,569 10 1,115
@ 112) 12) (1,338) ) (446)
90 10,039 22) (2,454) 74) (8,254)
(24) (2,677) 15 1,673 9 1,004
32 3,569 33 3,681 (103)  (11,489)
©) (223) (12) (1,338) 35 3,904
(352) (39,262) 1,136 126,709 (218)  (24,316)
(331) (36,920) 1,336 149,017 (384)  (42,831)

$ 9,970 \1,112,054 $ 8,035 \ 896,224 $ 5,607 \ 625,405
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1,950 245 20 $ $ $ $ 18,073 $ 11,843 $ (7D $ 29,842
5,991 5,991
(384) (384)
5,607
3 5,717 5,717
34 34)
) (170) (170)
8 @
2
@ 221 221
(€H) 92) 92)
63 63
3 95 95
(1,350) (1,350)
(91) (965) (6,022) (6,987)
3 1,871 245 17 $ 5,717 $  (170) $ (€D) $ 17,395 $ 10,462 $ (458) $ 32,912
U.K.&l

118/253



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0O00o0Oo00oo0OooO(ELse92)
OoOoooooo

119/253



2016 30

11

13

0.165
11

11
2017 30

@ B
@

11

16

EDINETOOOO

OO000O0O00o0Oo00oo0OooO(ELse92)

OoOoooooo

(
(€]
C A B c
3 1,871 245 17 $ 5,717 $ @17) $ (G34) $17,39% $ 10,462 $  (458) $ 32,912
6,699 6,699
1,336 1,336
8,035
(209) (209)
(191) 191

2 170 170
14 14

17 (O)

2
@ 235 235
(€)) (76) (76)
4 149 149
(1,579) (1,579)
an (817) (6,074) (6,891)
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c A B
3 1,818 245 13 $ 5,526 $ (52) $ 16,900 $ 9,508 $ 818 $ 32,760
10,301 10,301
(331) (331)
9,970
(11) (11)
(56) 56
4 @
2
@ 327 327
@ 94) (94)
3 164 164
(1,918) (1,918)
(58) (619) (6,573) (7,192)
3 1,768 245 12 $ 5,470 $ ) $ 16,678 $ 11,318 $ 547 $ 34,006
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1,950 245 20 \ \ \2,015,862  \1,320,968 \ (8,254) 3,328,577
668,236 668,236
(42,831) (42,831)
625,405
3 637,674 637,674
(3,792) (3,792)
() (18,962) (18,962)
8 @
2
@ 24,650 24,650
() (10,262) (10,262)
7,027 7,027
3 10,596 10,596
(150,579) (150,579)
(91) (107,636) (671,694) (779,330)
3 1,871 245 17\ 637,674  \ (18,962)  \ (3,792) \1,940,238  \1,166,931 \ (51,085) 3,671,004
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1)
c A B
3 1,871 245 17 \ 637,674  \ (18,962) \ (3,792) \1,940,238  \1,166,931 \ (51,085) 3,671,004
747,206 747,206
149,017 149,017
896,224
(23,312) (23,312)
(21,304) 21,304
2 18,962 18,962
1,562 1,562
17 @
2
@ 26,212 26,212
() (8,477) (8,477)
4 16,619 16,619
(176,122) (176,122)
an (91,128) (677,494) (768,622)
3 1,818 245 13\ 616,370 \ \ (5,800) \1,885,026  \1,060,522 \97,932  \3,654,050
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2017 30 2 3 1,818 245 13 \ 616,370 \ (5,800) \1,885,026 \1,060,522 \ 97,932 \3,654,050
1,148,974 1,148,974
(36,920) (36,920)
1,112,054
(1,227) (1,227)
6,246 6,246
1 ( )
4 1
c (€))

2

@ 36,474 36,474
13
() (10,485) (10,485)
3 18,293 18,293
0.195
(213,934) (213,934)
0.210
11
A

1 (58) (69,043) (733,152) (802,196)
2018 30 2 3 1,768 245 12 \ 610,124 \ (781)  \1,860,264 \1,262,410 \ 61,012 \3,793,029
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( ) ( ) ( ) _( ) ) )
$10,301 \1,148,974 $ 6,699 \ 747,206 $ 5,991  \ 668,236
5,491 612,466 4,565 509,180 3,409 380,240
(255) (28,443)
13 327 36,474 235 26,212 221 24,650
(63) (7,027)
613 68,374 556 62,016 502 55,993
(1,277)  (142,437) 1,700 189,618 (764) (85,217)
(11) 1,227) (209) (23,312) ©) (1,004)
192 21,416
11 16
74) (8,254) 50 5,577 64 7,139
(223) (24,873) 94 10,485 391 43,612
70) (7.808) (54) (6,023) (65) (7.250)
(4,682)  (522,230) (4,628) (516,207) (3,508)  (391,282)
(160) (17,846) (252) (28,108) (315) (35,135)
3 335 (30) (3,346) 43 4,79
262 29,223 (176) (19,631) (302) (33,685)
1,761 196,422 465 51,866 277 30,897
17 452 50,416 1 112 (43) (4,796)
12,713 1,418,008 9,208 1,027,060 5,574 621,724
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30
2018 2017 2016
) ( ) )
(718) (80,086) (707) (78,859) (523) (58,335)
14 1,562 12 1,338
(5,772) (643,809) (3,238) (361,167) (10,426)  (1,162,916)
3,636 405,559 5,012 559,038 9,119 1,017,133
(196) (21,862) (302) (33,685) (9,082)  (1,013,006)
(50) (5,577) (46) (5,131) (10) (1,115)
2 223 4 446 6 669
(3,084) (343,989) 735 81,982 (10,916)  (1,217,571)
(7,192) (802,196) (6,891) (768,622) (6,987) (779,330)
(1,750) (195,195)
(170) (18,962)
(1,918) (213,934) (1,579) (176,122) (1,350) (150,579)
2,488 277,512 15,971 1,781,405
15) (1,673) (98) (10,931)
(600) (66,924)
150 16,731 45 5,019
164 18,293 149 16,619 95 10,596
94) (10,485) (76) (8,477) 92) (10,262)
63 7,027
(11,240)  (1,253,710) (5,924) (660,763) 7,477 833,985
(101) (11,266) 236 26,323 (34) (3,792)
@1,712) (190,956) 4,255 474,603 2,101 234,346
9,874 1,101,346 5,619 626,743 3,518 392,398
$ 8,162 \ 910,389 $ 9,874  \1,101,346 $ 5,619 \ 626,743
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\ $ \ $ 5,717 \ 637,674
\ $ \ $ 1,236 \ 137,863
2,285 \ 254,869 $ 3,038 \ 338,859 $ 2,842 \ 316,997
545 \ 60,789 $ 489 \ 54,543 $ 244 \ 27,216

195 \ 21,750 $ \ $ \
77 \ 8,589 $ 50 \ 5,577 $ 42 \ 4,685
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2018 10
2018 30 2018
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2019
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2018
FASB ASU 2018-11 ASU
ASU 2018-11
2016 FASB ASU 2016-05 ASU Topic 815
2017 10
2016 FASB ASU 2016-06 ASU
2017 10
2016 FASB ASU 2016-07 ASU
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2018

2018
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FASB

ASU
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ASU

ASU

ASU

2019 10

FASB
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2016-16

2016-18

2017-07

2017-09

2018-02

FASB ASU 2018-15

ASU 2018-15

ASU
ASU
ASU
ASU
ASU
118 SEC
ASU  2018-05
ASU
2020 10
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USA
17
33.3333 66.6667
33.3333 66.6667
2014 26
33.3333 66.6667
LSA LSA
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@) 2016 21 1.0
UK&I (b)
UK&I
VE
VE UK&I
UK&I
VE
VE
VE
VE

VE VE

145/253



UK&l
VE
2018 30
A
13.948 2018
2018

2017 30
VE
2018 30
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VE
70
UK&I
VE
@
© A
VE
A
VE
20
UK&I
VE 56 UK&I
2017 30 13.077
30 12.955 13.888
30 VE
VE
17-

UK&I
$ 2,326 $ 3,200 (52)
(11)
(35) 1) 56
$ 2,291 $ 3,179 [0
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UK&l

@

&)

®

2018

2017
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VE 2018
30 @
2018 30 2017 30
@ (€))
( )
$ 4,823 $ 2,291 $ 3,414 $ 2,326
6,580 3,179 4,634 3,200
11,403 5,470 8,048 5,526
™ 0] (52) (52)
$ 11,396 $ 5,463 $ 7,996 $ 5,474
(a) 2018 30 UK&I
(b) 2018 30 UK&I
A 12.955 13.888 ©)
30 A 150.09
(a) 2017 30 UK&I
(b) 2017 30 UK&I
A 13.077 13.948 ©)
30 A 105.24
30
2018 2017 2018 2017
( )
$ 6,252 $ 5,935
$ 1,048 $ 2,870
98 82
5,008 3,663

2,508 1,621
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15 124
78 18
$ 8,873 $ 7,762 $ 6,134 $ 6,551
$ 22 $ 98
$ - $ - $ 22 $ 98
2018
2018
2018 2017 2016 2018
2017 30 137 94
2018

2018 30
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2018 2017 30
2018 30 16.6 2017
30 18.4 19.2
2018 30
2018 30
2018
2017 30 98 82
2018 30 2017 30
( ) ( )
$506 $ - $ (8 $5,008 $3,664 $ 1 $ (2) $3,663
2,516 - (® 2,508 1,623 - @ 1,621
4 11 - 15 5 119 - 124

$7,5 $ 11 $ (16) $7,531 $5,292 $ 120 $ (4) $5,408

(3,449) (3,482)
$4,082 $1,926
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4.1
( )
2018 30
$ 3,443 $ 3,434
4,089 4,082
10 - -
10 - -
$ 7,532 $ 7,516
30
2018 2017 2016
( )
$ 173 $ 92 $ 75
- 6 5
2 6 3
4 2 -
98 Q) 3
193 - -
- - )

$ 470 $ 105 $ 82
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2018 2017
30 30

( )
$ 69 $ 72
898 865
1,661 1,534
153 139
2,916 2,533
5,697 5,143
(3,225) (2.,890)
$ 2,472 $ 2,253

2018 2017 30
1.9 1.7
2018 30
30 2024
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
( )
$ 309 $ 257 $ 195 $ 128 $ 69 $ 32 $ 990
2018 2017 2016
558 500 452 2018 2017

2016 312 285

259
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2018 30 2017 30
( )
$ 452 $ (14 $ 178 $ 438 $ (237) $ 201
199 (106) 93 195 (93) 102
95 (82) 13 95 (79) 16
17 1) 6 17 ©) 8
763 (473) 290 745 (418) 327
23,184 - 23,184 23,437 - 23,437
4,084 - 4,084 4,084 - 4,084
27,268 - 27,268 27,521 - 27,521
$28,031 $ (473) $27,558 $28,266 $ (418) $27,848
2018 2017 2016
55 56 50 2018 30
30 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
( )
$ 56 $ 56 $ 56 $ 50 $ 28 $ 44 $290
2018 2017 2016
2017 302
104
181

2018
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2017

2020

2022

2022

2025

2027

2035

2045

2047
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2018 30 2017 30
1.20
2017 1,750 1.37%
2.20
2020 3,000 3,000 2.30%
2.15
2022 1,000 1,000 2.30%
12 2.80
2022 12 2,250 2,250 2.89%
3.15
2025 4,000 4,000 3.26%
2.75
2027 750 750 2.91%
4.15
2035 1,500 1,500 4.23%
4.30
2045 3,500 3,500 4.37%
3.65
2047 750 750 3.73%
$ 16,750 $ 18,500
(120) (133)
(1,749)
$ 16,630 $ 16,618
2017 2.5 30 2022 2027
2047 2017 2017
2018 15 15 15 2017
2.5
2017 2017 11
2017 1.75 2017 2017 10 11
1.75 2017
2018 30
2018 2017 550 505

2018 30
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30
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
$ $ $ 3,000 $ 1,000 $ 2,250 $ 10,500 $16,750
3.0
397 2018 2017 30
2022 27 4.0
LIBOR

2018 2017 30
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30

30
2015 10 2015 12 31

2016
ERISA
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30 30
2018 2017 2018 2017

$ 913 $ 1,072 $ 433 $ 474

- - 4 6

32 36 12 11

(38) (58) 24 (52)

(63) (137) C)) (14)

- - (12) 8

$ 8 $ 913 $ 452 $ 433

$ 84 $ 913 $ 452 $ 433

$ 1,074 $ 1,077 $ 433 $ 415

78 125 13 17

1 9 11 5

63) (137) © 14)

- - (12) 10

$ 1,090 $ 1,074 $ 436 $ 433

$ 246 $ 161 $ (16) $ -

$ 252 $ 168 $ - $ 5

@ @ (10) ®)

® O) ®) -

$ 246 $ 161 $ (16) $ -
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30 30
2018 2017 2018 2017
$ 47 $ 97 $ 39 $ 9
@
30 30
2018 2017 2018 2017
( )

$ ® $ (MO $ @) s ©®

$ - $ - 3 436 S -

$ ® $ (MO $ @) s ©®
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[6H)
30
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
$ - $ - $ 13 $ 4 $ 6 $ 1
32 36 40 12 11 3
@0) (70) (69) (20) (16) ()
- - (€)) - - -
- 15 7 - 2 -
- - (®) - - -
3 15 13 - -
$ BB $ @O $ B $ ® $ 3 $ -
(1) 2016 2016 30
30
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
)

$ @ $ (113) $ 30 $ 30 $ (53) $ 66
() (30) (20) - @) -
- - 9 - - -
$ G0 3$ (143) $ 19 $ 30 $ (55) $ 66
$ (85 $ (147) $ 14 $ 26 $ (52) $ 66
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30
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
@
4.23% 3.84% 3.62% 2.90% 2.70% 2.40%
3.84% 3.62% 4.33% 2.70% 2.40% 3.10%
@ 7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 4.25% 4.50% 3.92%
®)
3.20% 3.20% 3.20%
3.20% 3.20% 3.00%
(€H)
)
)
(3) 2015 10 2015 12 31
50 80 25 35
2018 30
65 29
15
40
45 2018 30
16 38 46

2018 2017 30

159/253



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

30
2018 2017 _ 2018 2017 _ 2018 2017 _ 2018 _ 2017
( )
$ 65 § 31 $ 65 $ 31
571 540 571 540
187 197 187 197
30 47 30 47
62 75 62 75
34 39 34 39
141 145 141 5
$ 268 $ 251 $ 788 S 784  $34  $39 $1,090 $1,074
30
2018 2017 _ 2018 2017 _ 2018 _ 2017 _ 2018 _ 2017
( )
$ 6 5 1 $ 6 5 1
. 39 - 39
- 150 - 150
33 32 33 32
68 134 68 134
M 329 77 329 77
$ 74 $ 285 $ 320 $ 116 $ 33 $ 32 $ 436 $ 433

@
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2018 2017 2018 2017
( )
2018 $ 1 $ 11
2017 9 5
2019 1 10
2019 150 5
2020 73 5
2021 70 5
2022 67 5
2023 64 5
2024-2028 284 28
401k
401k 2018 2017
2016 93 58 55

401k
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2016

30

2018 30

56.7

2018

2018

2.5

20

30

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

oOoOooodn
91.7
2017 30
2018 2017
30 30
(
$ 1,708 $ 1,490
192 167
1,382 1,316
860 941
$ 4,142 $ 3,914
2017 30
384
2018 30
2017 30 1.8 2018
78
2018 2017
18
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2019 71
US GAAP
2018 2017 30
1.2 1.0
2018 30 56
2018 30
2018 30 1.1
18.8
2018 0.4
10
2018 2017
30 30
( )
$ 2,152 $ 2,003
320 250
$ 2,472 $ 2,253
2018
45 2017 47 2016 52

10
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2018

2017
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11
16
A
A
2018 30
UK&I
@
C
A
B A
10
A
124.29
2018
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A
C
2017
UK&I
UK&I 13.952 A
A
A A
@)
2 12.9550 32
3 13.8880 44
1,768 - 1,768
245 1.6298(3) 400
12 4.0000 47
2,291
A
2018 30
2018 A 63
63 58 7.2
2018
00
VE 56
A B
UK&I
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)

2018
2015

2018
2016

30
2018
30

2018
2018
4.2

30

2018

2017 2016

2018
UK&I
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2018
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[€H)
30
2018 2017 2016
( )
) 58 77 91
$ 123.76 $ 89.98 $  77.05
$ 7,192 $ 6,891 $ 6,987
2018 2017 2016
2017 30 2017 2016 30 2016
30 2017 2017 30 2016
7.5
2018
B
B
B
2018 30
(
)
5
$ 132.32
$ 600
A
UK&I
VE
2017 VE
2016 UK&I
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UK&I
30
2018 2017 2018 2017
(
)
A ® ) O O
2 $ 113.05 $ 88.70 $ 112.92 $ 85.01
$ 35 $ 190 $ 21 $ 1
A
B C
A
B B
B
B A
B
A
A
c 2018 30 C
140 C A
2018
2017 UK&l
UK&I VE
UK&I
12
UK&I 12
12 A
A A
A A
A A 100

UK&I
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UK&I
A
C
C
B
2018
0.25
12
A
2018
A
(©)
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A
UK&I
A
B
B
A
B C
B C
C
1.9 0.195
0.21 2018 10 16 A
B C UK&I
2018 11 16
2018 12
11
A
D UK&I
c A 0
A
(€D
n @ (8 A/ (B) A @ B (A)/(8)
$ 7,937 1,792 $ 4.43 $ 10,301 2.329 @ $ 4.42
1,787 245 $ 7.28 $ 1,785 245 $ 7.27
218 12 $ 17.72 $ 217 12 $ 17.69
359 $ 358
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$ 10,301
2017 @
@@ ® /@ A @ B A/ @)
$ 5,170 1,845 $ 2.80 $ 6,699 2,305 @ $ 2.80
1,134 245 $ 4.62 $ 1,132 245 $ 4.61
163 14 $11.21 $ 162 14 $ 11.19
@ 232 $ 232
$ 6,699
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@

&)

®

*

2017

*

58
2018
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OOooOoOoOoo
2016 @
@ ® @B M)/ @) A ® B A/ ®)
$ 4,738 1,906 $ 2.49 $ 5,991 2,414 $ 2.48
1,006 245 $ 4.10 $ 1,004 245 $ 4.09
185 19 $ 9.94 $ 185 19 $ 9.93
62 $ 6l
$ 5,001
B
2018 403 2017 2016 405
c 2018 2017 2016 49
75 UK&I
2017 32 33 2018
44
2018 2017 2016
2018 2017 2016
UK&I
11
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13
2007
2007 EIP
RSA
RSU
A 236
EIP
Elp
2022 31
2018 2017
2016 EIP
312 224 211 2018 2017
2016 53 67 62 2018 2017
2016
EIP 10
2018 2017 2016
2018 2017 2016
@ 4 4.23 4.35
@ 2.0% 1.6% 1.5%
® 18.3% 20.2% 21.7%
® 0.7% 0.8% 0.7%
$ 18.24 $ 13.90 $ 15.01
(1) 2018
1PO
2018 2018
97
3 2017 87 13 2016 77 23 2018
1PO 10
)
®) 2018 18%
2017 20 2016 20 23
)

2018
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®
2017 30 7,115,876 $ 50.17
1,646,060 $ 110.26
(281,952) $ 93.19
(1,128) $ 11.00
(2.,690,016) $ 28.37
2018 30 5,788,840 $ 75.30 6.94 $ 433
2018 30 3,000,704 $ 55.28 5.42 $ 285
2018 30
@ 5,567,702 $ 74.23 6.86 $ 422
(1) 2018 150.09
@ 2018
2018 2017 2016 249
178 103 62 35
2018 30
22 0.6
EIP RSA RSU
RSA A RSA
A
RSU A
RSU
2016 RSA EIP RSU
RSA RSU A
2018 2017 2016 RSA 2018 2017
2016 RSU 111.11 81.67
79.77 2018 2017 2016 RSA RSU
183 163 142
2018 RSA RSU
@
RSA RSU RSU RSA RSU
2017 30
466,007 4,673,701  $ 63.37  $ 80.37
- 2,832,974 $ - $111.11
(451,297) (1,937,132) $ 63.39 $ 79.76
(14,710)  (365,099) §$ 72.25 § 92.31
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2018

(1) 2018

2018
RSU

2017
@

2018

(1) 2018
@

92.71

ESPP
2016

14

30

30

2018

30

30
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OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

OooooOodd
5,204,454 $ - $96.50 0.0 0.88 $ - $ 781
150.09
RSU 284
0.88
@

937,675 $ 84.20

641,498 $ 120.11

(355,563) $ 88.05

(48,980) $ 76.07

(175,214) $ 108.05

999,416 $ 102.07 0.94 $ 150
150.09

500
2018 2017 2016
120.11 86.37
2018 2017 2016
2018 30
54 0.94
ESPP
15 A
A 20 2018 2017
ESPP
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2018
2017 2016 224 159 134
2018 30

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

$ 180 $ 123 $ 102 $ 89 $ 75 $ 178 $ 747

2016 21 100
1.0 4

15
10

(i) 10
2018 2017 30
10 2018 2017
2016
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2018

2018

2017
2.7

2017
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OooooOodd

2018 2017 2016
$ 8,088 $ 8,440 $ 5,839
4,718 3,254 2,173
$ 12,806 $ 11,694 $ 8,012

2016
2.9 2.5

2018 2017 2016
$ 2,819 $ 2,377 $ 2,250
219 291 181
754 629 368
3,792 3,297 2,799
(1,214) 1,607 (508)
(96) 66 (63)
23 25 (207)
(1,287) 1,698 (778)
$ 2,505 $ 4,99 $ 2,021

30
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2017 12 22
35

2019 21

2018

2018

10

21

15.5
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2018 2017
$ 135 $ 194
329 373
213 272
34 45
17 29
120 236
127 193
(34) (35)
941 1,307
(286) (391)
(5,153) (6,756)
(106) (59)
(5,545) (7,206)
$ (4,604) $ (5,899)
21 2018
2018 24.5
1.1 2018
15.5
1.1
ASU  2018-05 2019
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2018
2019
2018
2018
2018
2018 2017 30
50
2018 30

137
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2018 10
2018 10
2019
14 81
2018 2017
17 21
2028 2037
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24.5
30
2018 2017 2016
) ) ) ) C ) Q)
$ 3,141 25 % $ 4,093 3B/Y% $ 2,804 35 b
201 2 % 200 2 % 135 2 %
(465) @)% (641) G (553) (%
1,147 9 % _ - . - %
(1,133) )% - - % (88) L%
- - % . . (89) Q)%
- -% 1,515 13 % _ - %
(386) G)% (172) )% (188) Q)%
$ 2,505 20% $ 4,995 43% $ 2,021 25 %
2018 20 2017 43 2018
2017
2018
2018 161
2017
1.5
71
2017 43 2016 25 2017
2016
2017
ASU  2016-09 2017
70
2016
1.9 2016
2016
88
2016 255
2018 2017 30 82 148

2018 2017 30 689 755
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2018 2017 30
2.4
2018 2017 2016
295 252 235

0.13 0.11 0.10

740
2018 2017 30

1.7 1.4

1.2
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257 243
1.1
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2018 2017
( )
$ 1,353 $ 1,160
367 56
(233) (59)
172 197
(€)) (€D)
$ 1,658 $ 1,353
2018 2017 2016
15 23 15
2018 2017 2016
2018 2017 30
99 84 34
2012 2015 IRS
2008 2011 IRS
2012
2006 2011 2006
2013 CRA 2003 2009
CRA 2010
2017
CRA 2015 2016
CRA
CRA
2010 2015
2002

12
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USA

2014

2018
600
MDL

2014

450
2012
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OooooOodd
2018 2017
$ 982 $ 981
7 19
601 186
(156) (204)
$ 1,434 $ 982
2018 2017
$ 978 $ 978
600 -
(150) -
$ 1,428 $ 978
14 MDL1720 2012
1.1

2014

U.K.&l
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2005

USA
MasterCard Incorporated
International Incorporated

500
1.1
30

2018 17

900

467

MDL
USA
1PO
2012
4.0
2012
5.3
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ooOoooOoo
2018 2017
$ 1 $ 2
1 186
(@) (187)
$ - $ 1
MDL1720
1PO
MasterCard
2012
2016
2012
600
2012
15
700
25
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ooooooo
MDL
2013 50
MDL1720
USA
2017 10 27
MDL1720
MDL1720
MDL1720
1:05-md-

01720-JG-J0 (E.D.N.Y.)

MDL1720
2013 400

75
300
2016 11 2017
2017 11 2018
2018
2018
2018 31

30
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EC
EEA
2009
2013 SSO
2017 SSO SSO
EEA
EC EEA
EC
2017 11 SSO 2018
EC

EEA

2010 2014 EC
nce 2013 EC DCC EU
2010 12

10
2015 2016 2017
2018
ATM
ATM National ATM Council 2011 10 ATM 13 ATM
USA Plus
System, Inc.
ATM
2011 10 ATM

2011 10
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2012 13
CID 15
CID
PIN
CID
Pulse Network
2014 11 25 Pulse Network LLC
PIN
2018 31
2018 28
EMy
Milam®s Market B&R
B&R Supermarket, Inc. Grove Liquors LLC 2016
2016 15 USA
EMVCo
EMVCo
2015 10
EMVCo
MDL1720
2018 16
2016 27 The Kroger Co.
2017 11 13
2018 12
Nuts for Candy
2017 2004

USA

MDL
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2016 11 KFTC
2018
KFTC
2017 19
2018 10 15 CADE

Elo

CADE
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2018 2017
2018 2018 2018 2017 2018
3 @ 3 @ 31 12 31 @
$ 5,434 $ 5,240 $ 5,073 $ 4,862 $ 20,609
$ 3,406 $ 2,885 $ 3,336 $ 3,327 $ 12,954
$ 2,845 $ 2,329 $ 2,605 $ 2,522 $ 10,301
A $ 1.24 $ 1.00 $ 1.12 $ 1.07 $ 4.43
B $ 2.01 $ 1.66 $ 1.84 $  1.77 $ 7.28
C $ 4.9 $ 4.02 $ 4.46 $  4.30 $ 17.72
A $ 1.23 $ 1.00 $ 1.11 $ 1.07 $ 4.42
B $ 2.01 $ 1.65 $ 1.84 $ 1.77 $ 7.27
C $ 4.93 $ 4.01 $ 4.46 $  4.29 $ 17.69
2017 2017 2017 2016 2017
30 30 a1 @ 12 31
$ 4,855 $ 4,565 $ 4,477 $ 4,461 $ 18,358
$ 3,212 $ 3,024 $ 2,808 $ 3,100 $ 12,144
$ 2,140 $ 2,059 $ 430 $ 2,070 $ 6,669
A $ 0.91 $ 0.87 $ 0.18 $ 0.86 $ 2.80
B $ 1.49 $ 1.43 $ 0.30 $ 1.4 $ 4.62
C $ 3.62 $ 3.46 $ 0.72 $ 3.43 $ 11.21
A $ 0.90 $ 0.86 $ 0.18 $ 0.86 $ 2.80
B $ 1.49 $ 1.42 $ 0.29 $ 1.4 $ 4.61
C $ 3.61 $ 3.45 $ 0.72 $ 3.42 $  11.19
Overview within Item 7 -
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 2018 10-K
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Table of Contenis

VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Assats
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash—LU 5. litigation escrow (Mobe 2)
Invesiment secunties (Note 3):
Trading
Available-for-sale

Settlement recelvable
Accounts receivable
Customer collateral (Note 8)
Current portion of client incentives
Prepaid expenses and oiher current assets

Total current assets
Investment securities, available-for-sale (Mote 3)
Client incentives
Property. equipment and technology, net (Mote 4)
Goodwill {Note 5)
Intangible assels, net (Note 5)
Other assets

Total assets
Liabllitles
Accounts payable
Settlernent payable
Customer collateral (Mote 8)
Accrued compensetion and benefits
Client incentives
Accrued liabilities
Deferred purchase consideration
Current maturities of locng-term debt {Mote 6)
Accrued litigation (Mote 17)

Total current liabilities
Long-term debi (Note 5)
Deferred tax liabilties (Note 16)
Deferred purchase consideration
Other habilies

Total abilities

Comrmitrments and contingencies (Note 14)

Equity
F'r%erreﬂ stock, $0.0001 par value, 25 shares authonzed and S shares issued and outstanding as
CWS
Series A convertible participating preferred stock, none ssued (the “class A equivalent prefemed
stock”) (Mote 11)
Series B convertible parl-:u:atln?
30, 2018 and 2017 (the "UKE| preferred stock™) { Mote 11)
Series C converlible participating preferred stock, 3 shares issued and outstanding at September
30, 2018 and 2017 (the “Eurcpe preferred stock™) (Note 11)
Class A commaon stock, $0.0001 par value, 2,001,622 shares authonzed, 1,768 and 1,818 shares
issued and oulstanding at Seplember 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively (Nale 11)
Class B commen stock, $0.0001 par value, 622 shares authorized. 245 shares issued and outstanding
ol September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively (Mobe 11)

Class C common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1 087 shares authorized, 12 and 13 shares issued and
outstanding al September 20, 2018 and 2017, respectively (Mote 11)

Right to recover for covered losses (Nobe 2)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated income
Accumulated cther comprehensive income (loss), net:
Investment secunties, available-for-sale
Defined benefit pension and other postretirernent plans
Derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedges
Foreign cufrency translation adjustments
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

preferred stock, 2 shares issued and cutstanding at September
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September 30, September 30,
018 2017

{in milliens, except par value data)

5 8162 § 5,874
1,49 1,031
a8 82
3,449 3,482
1,582 1,422
1,208 1,132
1,324 1,106
340 344
562 550
18,216 19,023
4,082 1,926
538 591
2,472 2,253
15,194 15.110
27,558 27,848
1,165 1,226
5 69,225 5 67.977
5 183§ 179
2,168 2,003
1,325 1,106
am 757
z,834 2,089
1,160 1,129
1,300 —
- 1,749
1,434 G52
11,305 5,554
16,630 15,618
4,618 5 860
= 1.304
2,666 1,321
35,219 55217
2,29 2,326
3,179 3.200
7} (52)
16,678 16,900
1,118 9,508
17 73
{61) (76}
60 (35)
565 917
547 78
34,006 32 760
5 69,225 5 67917

See accompanying nofes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended

September 30,
2018 2017 20160

{inmilllons, excepl per share data)
Operating Revenues
SErVICE MEVEnues % 8818 % 7975 & 6,747
Dala processing revenues 9,027 7.786 8,272
International ransaction revenues 7,21 6.321 4,648
Other revenues 944 241 423
Chient incemtives {5,491) {4.585) {3.4009)
Met operating revenues 20,608 18,358 15,082

Operating Expensas

Personnel 3170 26268 2,226
Marketing 988 g22 869
Network and processing 86 620 538
Professional fees 446 409 269
Depreciation and amortization E13 556 502
Ganeral and administrative 1,145 1,080 T96
Litigation prowision (Note 17) GOT 19 2
isa Eurcpe Framework Agreement loss — — 1.877
Total operating expenses 7,655 6,214 7,199
Operating income 12,954 12144 7.883

Non-operating Income (Expense)

Interest expense (612) (563) (427}
Other 464 113 356
Total non-operating iIncome (exXpenss) (148) (450} 129
Income before income taxes 12,806 11,694 8,012
Income tax provision (Note 16) 2,505 4,045 2,021
Met income $ 10,2 % GES0 & 5,901
Basic earnings per share (Note 12)

Class A common stock £ 443 5 280 § 249

Class B common stock $ 7.28 % 462 § 4.10

Class C commen stock % 17.72 % 11.21 § .94

Basic welghted-average shares outstanding (Mote 132)

Class A common stock 1,792 1.845 1.206
Class B common stock 245 245 245
Class C common stock 12 14 18

Diluted earnings per share (Note 12)

Class A common stock $ 442 £ 280 § 248
Class B common stock % 727 % 461 § 4.09
Class C common stock -1 1768 % 11.18 § 583

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding (Note 12)

Class A commen stock 2,320 2,285 2414
Class B common stock 245 245 245
Class C cammen stock 12 14 19

The Company did not include \Visa Eurcpe's financial results in the Company's consoldated statements of operations from the acquisition
date, June 21, 2016, through June 30, 2016 as the impact was immaterial. The Company's consdidated statement of operations for the year
ended September 30, 2016 includes Visa Eurape’s financial results for the three menths ended September 30, 2016.

See accompanying noles, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net iIncome
Other comprehensive income (loss), nel of ax:
Investment securities, available-for-sale:
Metl unrealized gain
Income tax effect
Reclassification adusiment for net (gain) loss realized in net income
Income tax effect
Defined benefit pension and cther postretirement plans:
Met unrealized actuarial gain (l0ss) and prior service credit
Income tax effect
Reclassification adusiment for net loss realized in nel income
Income tax effect
Derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedges:
Mel unrealized gain (loss)
Income tax effect
Reclassification adiustment for net loss (gain) realized in net income
Income tax effect
Forelgn currency translation adusiments
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income

For the Years Ended

September 30,
2018 2017 2NE
{in millions )

£ 10,301 & 6,699 & 5,681
a4 60 &1

(18) (24) (18}

{215) 1 (3}

50 — 1
16 183 (106)

(5 154y 36

5 a2 10
(1) 12y (%)
a0 (22} (T4}

(24) 15 a
3z 33 (103)

12) {12} 35
(252) 1,126 (218)
(331) 1,326 (364)

3 8.970 % B35 § 5,607

See accompanying noles, which are an integral part of these consolidatad financial statements.

8

190/253



Tabde of Contents

Balanca as of Seplember 30, 2045
Met income
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Comprehaniie income

Issuance of preferred slock (Naole 11

VE temitery coversd iosses moumed
(ke 2)

Class C common stock held by Viss
Eurcpe, @ whoily-gn ed submdiany
of Wisa Inc. (Mobe 1)

Coonversioe of Zlnis O comman slock
upon Saked Inlo publs markel

ARGy and vosing of resincied
Hoch and perfarmance-based

Share-biased compensation, med of
forfetures (Hole 13)

Aestricted shack and perfomande-
based shares seitiad in cash for

Excess tax benef for share-based
COMmpensation

Cash dhidends declaned and paid, ol
 quarierly amsoist of $0.14 per as-
carveried ihiie (Hde 11)

rehihe of class A Comimen sl
%Hll

Balance as of Seplemnbaer 30, 2046

Leres Boand C p shock Bee
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VISA ING.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
. Right 1 B cismulated
Praferred Slock! Common Slock -k A i
Serles  Sedles  Clags  Class  Clags  Prafered  Treadury  Covered Palddn  Accumulsted Compratwnsive  Total
[:] = A B [ Sock Sk Losses Cagiial Incoms Lots Exquity
fin el ons, except per share data)
- - 1850 5 0 5 e — 5 — 5 18073 % 1843 % (T4) 5 28842
5591 5854
a4 1384)
5,807
2 3 5747 5717
34y 124)
L] 117 {170
B (1] —
2‘ —
= 2 =
i1 5 B
83 )
3 9% 55
{1,350 11,3500
1) {865 1B,022) {6, 58T)
2 3 1874 S AT 8 SMT § {17} 5 (3p S 17305 3 10,462 5 458) 5 32942

tivety refemed o ns UKE] and Euope prefemed slock, respectivehy.

Decease in Class Acommon stock nelabed to forfetures of restricled Slock ewards: & less then one million sharnes.

Sea accompanying noles, whch ae an infegrad part of hese consaldated fnancial statemeants
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wdjestment (Nole 2 and Hote 11)
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shaces (Mabe 11 and Hobe 16)

Trensuny stock npprecistion, net of
Rax

Gonversion of class C common Sock
uptn Laed ifho pubiic mandel

Hgunnce shd vesting of resincted
whock ahd periermance-based
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Share-based compensation, net of
torfeilures (Kote 13)

Rerfbrigtad slock and

bsed shares Saflled i cash for
EEwes

Cash deddends declared and paid, al
B ubitdity amcunt of $0 165 b
i shaen (Mot 1)

Repurchise of dass Acomimen siock
{Mcbe 11)

Balance as of Seplembaer 30, 247

Prefemed Stock™

VISA ING.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY—{Continued)

Common Stock

i o
i for  Additlcnal

Sarles
-]

Serlve  Class
c &

Clwiz  Class  Profarred
B C 5t

Traasury Hl:u od Pald
e ]
ook Slock Losses Capltal

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

Bccumalated
CHhar

lated  Comp Ive Tedal
Income Income [Loss) Equity

1.8

245

(B mions, except per share dala)

iwE EMTE T3 (M) %

LE -

10462 5 458 & 32092

(EEy)

[151) 19
70
14

L]

L]

217

&.600 6,089
1338
8035

(209

1338

1w

14

.57 {1578

6,074} 16.851)

2

3

1818

243

13§ 3508 % -~ 5 (3% 18500 §

axe 5 878 B 3II7E0

Saries B and © prefermed stock are s smativedy referred to a8 UKL | and Europe peefered stock, respeciivety.
Decresss in Class A common stock relabed ta forfeliured of matricted sback erands i st (han ane million Shanes.

Sea accompanying noies, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemants
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g Eritlic rmarkes
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VISA ING.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY—{Continued)
hit 1o L1 uladed
Praferrad Sock!™ Commen Slock Hfggwm —— i
Sorlee  Sarles  Claas Class Clasz  Prabemed Coverad Padd-In Acoumulated  Comprehensive Tailal
B [+ A B '] SHock Lossos Capleal Incosma nooms Equity
{In milliens, axcepd pee shate data)
2 3 188 245 i3 5 5528 % 59 5 18500 § f508 % &TH 5 32780
10,304 0,304
230 (24
8,970
(11} (AL
(56} 25 -
4 11 =]
2 -
- x2r 7
[41] (34) (24)
3 1654 1054
o a8y {1.548)
(L1 1515) 6,873y {7,182y
2 11768 245 12 s4T0 i 16678 1,314 54T 5 34008

Series Band C preferned slock are alematively reflerned 1o o LKA and Europe prefemed stock, nespeciively
Decrease in Class A common stock relabed to fafedures of resincied sbock mwinds i less (Ran one milon shares.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMEMNTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended

Septamber 30,
2018 2017 2016
{im millions)

Operating Activities
Het income $ 10301 & eE89 & 5094
Adjustments to reconcile net income to et cash provided by operaling activities:

Client incentives 543 4,585 3.408

Fair value adjustment for the Visa Europe put cption - - (255)

Share-based compensation (Mote 13} 327 235 g

Excess lax benefit for share-based compensation —_ —_ (63

Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, technology and intangible assets 613 555 502

Deferred income laxes {1,277) 1,700 (T64)

Right to recover for covered losses recorded in equity (Nole 2) {11} (209) (8

Charitable confribution of Visa Inc. shares (Mote 11 and Nate 15} —_ 182 —

Oither (T4} a0 54
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Settlement receivable {223) a4 391

Agcounts receivable (70} (54) (65)

Client incentives {4,682) (4,528) {3.508)

Other assets {160} (252) {315)

Accounts payable 3 (30) a3

Settlernent payable 262 (176) (302)

Accrued and other liabifities 1,761 485 277

Accrued litigation (Mote 17) 452 1 (43)
Met cash provided by operating activities 12,713 9.208 5.574
Investing Activities
Furchases of property, equipment. technology and intangible assets {718} (707) (523)
Proceeds from sales of property, equipment and technology 14 12 —_
Investment securities, available-for-sale:

Purchases (5,772) (3.238) (10.428)

Proceeds from malurities and sales 3,636 5,012 2.119
Acquisitions, net of cash received {196) {302y {9.082)
Purchases of f contributions to other invesiments (50 (6] (10
Proceeds / distributions from other investmenis 2 4 L]
Met cash {used in} provided by investing activities {3, 084) 735 {10.816)
Financing Activities
Repurchase of class A common stock (Mote 11} {7,182) (6,801) {6,987
Repayments of long-term debt {Nole B) {1,750) —_ —
Treasury stock—class C common siock (Mole 11) —_ — (170)
Dividends paid (Mole 11) {1,818) (1.579) {1,250)
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes (Nole §) —_ 2,488 15.971
Debt issuance cosls (Note 6) _ (15) (98)
Deposit into ULE, litigation escrow accouni—U. 5. retrospective responsibility plan (MNote 2 and Nole 17) (&0OD) — —
Pa?;r;ents from LLS. litigation escrow account—Ll.S. refrospective responsibility plan (Mote 2 and Note 150 -
Cash proceeds from issuance of comman stock under employee equity plans. 164 149 95
Restricted stock and performance-based shares setiled in cash for taxes (94} {T6) (92}
Excess tax benefit for share-based compensation — — B3
Met cash (used in) provided by financing activities (11, 240) (5.924) TATT
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents {101} 236 (34)
{Decrease) increase in cash and cash eguivalents {1,712) 4,255 2101
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,874 5,619 3518
Cash and cash equivalents sl end of year $§ 8162 5 9874 § 5613
Supplemental Disclosura
Seres B and C convertible participating preferred stock issued in Visa Europe acquisition (Mote 2) $ — & - % S17
Deferred purchase consideration recorded for Visa Europe acquisition (Mote 14) $ - & — § 1,236
Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ 2285 % 3038 § 2842
Interest payments on debt 5 545 § 460 § 244
Charitable contribution of available-for-sale investiment securities to Visa Foundation 5 195 % - 5 —
Accruals related to purchases of property, equipment, technology and intangible assets % w5 50 § 42

See sccompanying noles, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VISA INC.

MNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018

Mote 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organizalion. Visa Inc. ("Visa® or the "Company”) is a global payments technology company that enables fast,
secure and reliable electronic payments across more than 200 countries and territories, Visa and its wholly-owned
consolidated subsidiaries, including Visa U.S.A. Inc. ("Visa US.A"), Visa International Service Association ("Wisa
International), Visa Worldwide Pte. Limited, Visa Europe Limited (*Visa Europe"), Visa Canada Corporation ("Visa
Canada"), Visa Technology & Operations LLC and CyberSource Corporation, operate one of the world's largest
retail electronic payments network — VisaMet — which facilitates authorization, clearing and settiement of payment
transactions and enables the Company to provide its financial institution and merchant clients a wide range of
products, platforms and value-added services, VisaMet also offers fraud protection for account holders and assured
payment for merchants. Visa is not a bank and does not issue cards, extend credit or set rates and fees for account
holders on Visa products. In most cases, account holder and merchant relationships belong to, and are managed
by, Visa's financial institution clients.

Consolidation and basis of presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Visa
and its consolidated entities and are presented in accordance with accourting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America ("LLS. GAAP"). The Company consolidates its majority-owned and controlled entities,
including varable interest entities ("VIEs™) for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The Company's
investmenrts in VIEs have not been material to its consclidated financial statements as of and for the periods
presented, All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consalidation.

The Company’s activities are interrelated, and each activity is dependent upon and supportive of the other, All
significart operating decisions are based on analysis of Visa as a single global business. Accondingly, the Company
has one reportable segment, Payment Senvices,

Use of estimates. The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions about future events. These estimates and assumptions affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Future actual results could differ materally from these estimates. The use of estimates in specific accounting
policies is described further below as appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and certain highly liquid investments with
original maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase. Cash equivalents are primarily recorded at cost,
which approximates fair value due to their generally short maturities.

Restricted cash—U.5S. fihgalion escrow. The Company maintaing an escrow account from which monetary
liakilities from setflements of, or judgments in, the U.S. covered litigation are paid. See Nale 2—U.5. and Eurape
Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 17—Legal Matters for a discussion of the U.S. covered litigation, The
escrow funds are held in money market investments, together with the interest earned, less applicable taxes
payable, and classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets. Interest earned on escrow funds is
included in non-operating income on the consolidated statements of operations.

Irwestments and fair valus. The Company measures cerlain assels and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements are reported under a three-level valuation
hierarchy, See Note 3—Fair Value Measurements and Investmeants, The classification of the Company's financial
assets and liabilities within the hierarchy is as follows:

Leval 1—Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities. The Company's Level 1 assets include money market funds, publicly-traded equity securities
and U.S, Treasury securities
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
September 30, 2018

Level 2—Inputs to the valuation methodology can include: (1) guoted prices in active markets for similar (not
idertical) assets or liabilities; (2) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets; (3) inputs other
than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; or (4) inputs that are derived principally from ar
corroborated by observable market data. The Company's Level 2 assets and liabilities include commercial paper,
U.5. government-sponsored debt securities, corporate debt securities and foreign exchange derivative instruments.

Level 3—Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and cannot be corroborated by observable
market data. The Company’s Level 3 assets include non-marketable equity investments and investments accounted
for under the equity method,

Trading investment securities include mutual fund equity security investments related to vanous employee
compensation and benefit plans. Trading activity in these investments is at the direction of the Company's
employees. These investments are held in a trust and are not available for the Company's operational or liguidity
needs. Interest and dividend income and changes in fair value are recorded in non-operating income, and offset in
personnel expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

Available-for-sale investment securities include investments in debt and equity securities. These securities are
recorded at cost at the time of purchase and are carried at fair value. The Company considers these securities to be
available-for-sale to meet working capital and liquidity needs. Investments with original maturities of greater than 90
days and stated maturities of less than one year from the balance sheet date, or investments that the Company
intends to sell within one year, are classified as current assets, while all other securities are classified as non-
current assets. These investments are generally available to meet short-term liquidity needs. Unrealized gains and
losses are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated balance sheets until
realized. The specific identification method is used to calculate realized gain or loss on the sale of marketable
securities, which is recorded in non-operating income on the consolidated statements of operations. Dividend and
interest income are recognized when earned and are included in nen-operating income on the consclidated
staternents of operations.

The Company evaluates its debt and equity securities for other-than-termporary impairment, or OTTI, on an
ongeing basis. When there has been a decline in fair value of a debt or equity security below the amortized cost
basis, the Company recognizes OTTI if: (1) it has the intent to sell the security, (2) it is more likely than not that it
will be required to sell the securnty before recovery of the amortized cost basis; or (3) it does not expect to recover
the entire amortized cost basis of the security,

The Company applies the equity method of accounting for investments in other entities when it holds between
20% and 50% ownership in the entity or when it exercises significant influence. Under the equity method, the
Company's share of each entity’s profit or loss s reflected in nen-operating income on the consolidated statements
of operations. The equity method of accounting is also used for flow-through entities such as limited partnerships
and limited liability companies when the investment ownership percentage is equal to or greater than 5% of
outstanding ownership interests, regardless of whether the Company has significant influence over the investees.

The Company applies the cost method of accounting for investments in other entities when it holds less than
20% ownership in the entity and does not exercise significant influence, or for flow-through entities when the
investment ownership is less than 5% and the Company does not exercise significant influence. These investments
consist of eguity holdings in non-public companies and are recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance
sheets.

The Company regularly reviews investments accounted for under the cost and equity methods for possible
impairment, which generally involves an analysis of the facts and changes in circumstances influencing the
investment, expectations of the ertity's cash flows and capital needs, and the viability of its business maodel,

Financial instruments. The Company considers the following to be financial instruments: cash and cash
equivalents, resiricted cash—U.S_ litigation escrow, trading and available-for-sale investment securities, settlement
receivable and payable, customer collateral, non-marketable equity investments, settlement risk guarantee, and
derivative instruments. See Note 3—Fair Value Measurements and Investments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
September 20, 2018

Seftlement recaivable and payable. The Company operates systems for authorizing, clearing and settling
payment transactions worldwide. Most UL.S. dollar settlements with the Company’s financial institution clients are
settied within the same day and do not result in a receivable or payable balance, while settlements in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar generally remain outstanding for one to two business days, resulting in amounts due from
and to clients. These amounts are presented as settlement receivable and settlement payable on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Customer coliateral. The Company holds cash depesits and other non-cash assets from certain clients in order
to ensure their performance of settlement obligations arising from Visa payment products are processed in
accordance with the Company’s rules, The cash collateral assets are restricted and fully offset by corresponding
liabilities and both balances are presented on the consolidated balance sheets, excluding certain cash collateral for
which clients retain beneficial ownership and the cash is only accessible to the Company in the event of default by
the client on its settled obligations. All other collateral is excluded from the consolidated balance sheets. Fledged
securities are held by a custodian in an account under the Company’s name and ownership, however, the Company
does not have the right to repledge these securities, but may sell these securities in the event of default by the
client on its settlement obligations. Letters of credit are provided primarily by client financial institutions to serve as
irrevocable guarantees of payment. Guarantees are provided primarily by parent financial institutions to secure the
obligations of their subsidiaries. The Company routinely evaluates the financial viability of institutions providing the
letters of credit and guarantees. See Nohe 6—Seftlemant Guarantes AManagement,

Guararmtees and indemnifications. The Company recognizes an obligation at inception for guarantees and
indemnifications that qualify for recognition, regardless of the probability of occurrence. The Company indemnifies
its financial institution clients for setflement losses suffered due to the failure of any other client to fund its
settiernent obligations in accordance with the Visa operating rules. The estimated fair value of the liability for
settlernent indemnification is included in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Property, equipment and technology, net. Property, equipment and technology are recorded at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortization, which are computed on a straight-line basis over the asset's
estimated useful life. Depreciation and amortization of technology, furniture, fixtures and equipment are computed
over estimated useful lives ranging from 2 to 10 years, Capital leases are amortized over the lease term and
leasehnold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or lease term. Building
improvements are depreciated between 3 and 40 years, and buildings are depreciated owver 40 years.
Improvemeants that increase functionality of the asset are capitalized and depreciated over the assel's remaining
useful life. Land and construction-in-progress are not depreciated. Fully depreciated assets are retained in property,
equipment and technology, net, until remowved from senvice.

Technology includes purchased and internally developed software, including technology assets obtained
through acquisitions. Internally developed software represents software primarily used by the VisaMet electronic
payments network. Intemal and external costs incurred during the preliminary project stage are expensed as
incurred, Qualifying costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized. Once the project is
substantially complete and ready for its intended use these costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
technology’s estimated useful life. Acquired technology assets are initially recorded at fair value and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be
recoverable. If the sum of expected undiscounted net future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of an asset
or assef group, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group
exceeds its fair value. See Note 4—Froperty. Eguipment and Technology, Net

Leases. The Company enters into operating and capital leases for the use of premises, software and
equipment. Rent expense related to operating lease agreements, which may or may not centain lease incentives, is
primarily recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

Intangibla assats. net. The Company records identifiable intangible assets at fair value on the date of
acquisition and evaluates the useful life of each asset.
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Finite-lived intangible assets primarly consist of customer relationships, reacquired rights, reseller
relationships and trade names obtained through acquisitions. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis and are tested for recoverability if events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. These intangibles have useful lives ranging from 3 to 15 years. No events or
changes in circumstances indicate that impairment existed as of September 30, 2018. See Nole S5—infangible
Assets and Goodwill

Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade name, customer relationships and reacquired rights,
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amornized but are evaluated for impairment annually or marne
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may exist. The Company first assesses
qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a guantitative impairment test for indefinite-lived
intangible assets. The Company assesses each category of indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an
aggregate basis, which may require the allocation of cash flows andfor an estimate of fair value to the assets or
asset group. Impairment exists if the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than the carrying value.
The Company relies on a number of factors when completing impairment assessments, including a review of
discounted net future cash flows, business plans and the use of present value technigues,

The Company completed its annual impairment review of indefinite-lived intangible assets as of February 1,
2018, and concluded there was no impairment as of that date. No recent events or changes in circumstances
indicate that impairment of the Company's indefinite-lived intangible assets existed as of September 30, 2018

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in
a business combination. Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level
annually as of February 1, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may
exist.

The Company evaluated its goodwill for impairment as of February 1, 2018, and concluded there was no
impairment as of that date. No recent events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment existed as of
September 30, 2018,

Accrued lifigation. The Company evaluates the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome in legal or regulatory
proceedings to which it is a party and records a loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These judgments are subjective, based on the
status of such legal or regulatory proceedings, the merits of the Company's defenses and consultation with
corporate and external legal counsel. Actual outcomes of these legal and regulatory proceedings may differ
materially from the Company's estimates. The Company expenses legal costs as incurred in professional fees in
the consolidated statements of operations. See Nole 17—Lagal Matlers.

Revenue recogrifion. The Company's operating revenues consist of service revenues, data processing
revenues, international transaction revenues and other revenues, reduced by costs incurred under client incentives
arrangements. The Compary recognizes revenue, net of sales and other similar taxes, when the price is fixed or
determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is performed and collectability of the
resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

Service revenues consist of revenues earned for services provided in support of client usage of Visa products.
Current quarter service revenues are primarily assessed using a calculation of current pricing applied to the prior
guarter's payments volume. The Company alse earns revenues from assessments designed to support ongoing
acceptance and volume growth initiatives, which are recognized in the same period the related volume is
trarsacted.

Data processing revenues consist of revenues earned for authorization, clearing, settlement, network access
and other maintenance and support services that facilitate transaction and information processing among the
Company’s clients globally. Data processing revenues are recognized in the same period the related transactions
OCCUr ar senvices are rendered.

Intermational transaction revenues are earned for cross-border fransaction processing and currency
corversion activities, Cross-border transactions arise when the country of origin of the issuer is different from that of
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the merchant. International transaction revenues are primarily generated by cross-border payments and cash
volurme.

Other revenues consist mainly of license fees for use of the Visa brand, fees for account holder services,
licensing and certification and other activities related to the Company's acqguired entities. Other revenues also
include optional service or product enhancements, such as extended account holder protection and concierge
services. Cther revenues are recognized in the same period the related transactions occur or services are
rendered. Prior to the acquisition of Visa Europe, other revenues also included revenues earned from Visa Europe
in connection with the Visa Europe Framework Agreement.

Client incentives. The Company enters into long-term contracts with financial institution clients, mercharits and
strategic partners for various programs designed o increase revenue by growing payments volume, increasing vVisa
product acceptance, winning merchant routing transactions over to Visa's network and driving innovation. These
incentives are primarily accounted for as reductions to operating revenues or as operating expenses if a separate
identifiable benefit at fair value can be established. The Company generally capitalizes advance incentive payments
under these agreements if select criteria are met. The capitalization criteria include the existence of future economic
benefits to Visa, the existence of legally enforceable recoverability language (eg, early termination clauses),
management's ability and intent to enforce the recoverability language and the ability to generate future eamings
from the agreement in excess of amounts deferred. Capitalized amounts are amortized over the shorter of the
pericd of contractual recoverability or the corresponding period of economic benefit. Incentives not yet paid are
accrued systematically and rationally based on management's estimate of each client's performance. These
accruals are regularly reviewed and estimates of performance are adjusted, as appropriate, based on changes in
performance expectations, actual client performance, amendments to existing contracts or the execution of new
contracts.

Marketing. The Company expenses costs for the production of advertising as incurred. The cost of media
advertising is expensed when the advertising takes place. Sponsorship costs are recognized over the period in
which the Company benefits from the sponsorship rights. Promaotional items are expensed as incurred, when the
related services are received, or when the related event ocours.

Income taxes. The Company's income tax expense consists of two components: current and deferred. Current
income tax expense represents taxes paid or payable for the current pericd. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized to reflect the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the respective tax basis of existing assets and liabilities, and operating loss and
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected o apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. In
assessing whether deferred tax assets are realizable, management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A valuation allowance is recorded for the portions
that are not expected to be realized basaed on the level of historical taxable income, projections of future taxable
income over the periods in which the temporary differences are deductible, and qualifying tax planning strategies,

Where interpretation of the tax law may be uncertain, the Company recognizes, measures and discloses
income tax uncertainties, The Company accounts for interest expense and penalties related to uncertain tax
positions as non-operating expense in the consclidated statemerts of operations. The Company files a
consclidated federal income tax return and, in certain states, combined state tax returns, The Company elects to
claim foreign tax credits in any given year if such election is beneficial to the Company. See Nofe 16—Income
Tares.

FPension and cther postretirement benefit plans. The Company's defined benefit pension and other
postretirement benefit plans are actuanally evaluated, incorporating various critical assumptions including the
discount rate and the expected rate of return on plan assets (for qualified pension plans). The discount rate is
based on a cash flow matching analysis, with the projected benefit payments matching spot rates from a yield curve
developed from high-quality corporate bonds. The expected rate of return on pension plan assets considers the
current and expected asset allocation, as well as historical and expected returns on each plan asset class. Any
difference between actual and expected plan expenence, including asset return experience, in excess of a 10%
corridor is recognized in net periodic pension cost over the expected average employee future service peried, which
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is approximately 9 years for the U.S. plans and 11 years for the Visa Europe UK pension plan. Other assumptions
involve demographic factors such as retirement age, mortality, attrition and the rate of compensation increases. The
Company evaluates assumptions annually and madifies them as appropriate.

The Company recognizes the funded status of its benefit plans in its consolidated balance sheets as other
assets, accrued liabilities and other liabilities, The Company recognizes seftlement losses when it seltles pension
benefit obligations, including making lump-sum cash payments to plan participants in exchange for their rights to
receive specified pension benefits, when certain thresholds are met See Note 7—Pension, Fosirelirement and
Other Benefits.

Foreign currehcy remeaasurement and transiation. The Company's functional currency is the U.S. dollar for the
majority of its foreign operations except for Visa Europe whose functional currency is the euro. Transactions
denominated in currencies cther than the applicable functicnal currency are converted to the functional currency at
the exchange rate on the transaction date. At period end, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the
functional currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Mon-manetary assets and liabilities
are remeasured at historical exchange rates. Resulting foreign currency transaction gains and losses related to
corversion and remeasurement are recorded in general and administrative expense in the consolidated staterments
of operations and were not material for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016

Where a non-U.S. currency is the functional currency, translation from that functional currency to the U.S.
dollar is performed for balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for
revenue and expense accounts using an average exchange rate for the period. Resulting translation adjustments
are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated balance
sheets.

Denvative financial instruments. The Company uses foreign exchange forward derivative contracts to reduce
its exposure to foreign cumency rate changes on forecasted non-functional curmency denominated operational cash
flows. To qualify for cash flow hedge accourting treatment, the Company formally documents, at inception of the
hedge, all relationships between the hedging transactions and the hedged items, as well as the Company's risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Company also formally
assesses whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in
the cash flows of the hedged iterms and whether those derivatives may be expected to remain highly effective in
future periods.

Derivatives are carried at fair value on a gross basis in either prepaid and other curent assets, non-current
other assets, accrued liahilities or non-current other liabilities an the consolidated balance sheets. At September 30,
2018, derivatives outstanding mature within 12 months or less. Gaing and losses resulting from changes in fair
value of designated derivative instruments are accounted for either in accumulated other comprehensive income or
loss on the consolidated balance sheets, or in the consolidated statements of operations in the corresponding
account where revenue or expense is hedged, or to general and administrative for hedge amounts determined to be
ineffective. Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value of derivative instruments not designated for hedge
accourting are recorded in general and administrative for hedges of operating activity, or non-operating incoms
{expenze) for hedges of non-operating activity. See Note 9—Derivalive and Non-denvative Financial Instruments.

Non-derivative financial instrument designated as a nat investment hedge. The Company designated the euro-
denominated deferred cash consideration liability, a non-derivative financial instrument, as a hedge against a
portion of the Company's euro-denominated net investment in Visa Europe. Changes in the value of the deferred
cash consideration liability, attributable to the change in exchange rates at the end of each reporting period, parially
offset the foreign cumency translation adjustments resulting from the euro-denominated net investment, are
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss an the Company's consolidated
balance sheets, See Note 8—Dervative and Non-derivative Financial Instruments.
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Share-based compensation. The Company recognizes share-based compensation cost using the fair value
method of accounting. The Company recognizes compensation cost for awards with only service conditions on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting pericd. Compensation cost for
performance and market-condition-based awards is recognized on a graded-vesting basis. The amount is initially
estimated based on target performance and i1s adjusted as appropriate based on management's best estimate
throughout the performance penod. See Nale 13—Share-based Compensation.

Earmings per share. The Company calculates earnings per share using the two-class method to reflect the
different rights of each class and senes of outstanding commaon stock. The dilutive effect of incremental common
stock eguivalents is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method. See Note
12—Earnings Pear Share.

Recently Issusd Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASE) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASL)
Mo. 2014-09, which reguires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the
transfer of goods or services to customers. The ASU will replace existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S.
GAAP when it becomes effective. Subsequently, the FASE also issued a series of amendments to the new revenue
standard. The Company will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective transition
method. The new standard will primanly impact the timing of recognition and classification of certain client
incentives, including cerain services provided as an incentive, and certain marketing-related funds paid to
customers,

The Company has completed an assessment of its existing customer contracts through September 30, 2018,
Based on this assessment, application of the new standard to the consclidated financial statements for fiscal 2018
would not have resulted in 2 material impact. The impact of the new standard to future financial results is
unknowable as it is not possible to estimate the impact of the standard to new customer contracts which may be
executed in future periods. Howewver, the new standard is not expected to have a material impact to the fiscal 2019
consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASBE issued ASU 2016-01, which amends certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments, including the reguirerment to measure cerain equity
investments at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income, The Compary will adopt the standard
effective October 1, 2018, The adoption is not expectad to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2016-02, which requires the recognition of lease assets and lease
liabilities arising from operating leases in the statement of financial position. The Company will adopt the standard
effective October 1, 2019 and does not anticipate that this new accounting guidance will have a material impact on
its consolidated staterment of operations. The Company estimates the value of leased assets and liabilities that may
be recognized could be in the hundreds of millions of dollars. The actual impact will depend on the Company’s
lease portfolio at the time of adoption. In July 2018, the FASE issued ASU 2018-11, which provides entities with an
additional transition method to adopt the new leases standard. Under this new transition method, an entity initially
applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings in the penod of adoption. Consegquently, an entity's reporting for the comparative
pericds presented in the financial statements will continue to be in accordance with the currert leases standard,
The optional transition method does not change the existing disclosure requirements. The Company is evaluating
the effect that ASU 2018-11 will have on its consolidated finrancial staterments.

In March 20186, the FASB issued ASU 2016-05, which clarifies that a change in the counterparty to a derivative
instrument that has been designated as the hedging instrument under Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, does
not, in and of itself, require dedesignation of that hedging relationship provided that all other hedge accounting
criteria continue to be met. The Company adopted the standard effective October 1, 2017, The adoption did not
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements,

In March 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2018-08, which clarifies the requirements for assessing whether
contingent call/put options that can accelerate the payment of principal on debt instruments are clearly and closely
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related to their debt hosts. An entity performing the assessment is required to assess the embedded callfput options
solely in accordance with a four-step decision sequence. The Company adopted the standard effective October 1,
2017. The adoption did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In March 2018, the FASE issued ASU 2016-07, which eliminates the reguirement that an entity retroactively
adopt the equity methed of accounting if an investment qualifies for use of the equity method as a result of an
increase in the level of ownership or degree of influence. The equity method investor is required to add the cost of
acquiring the additional interest in the investee to the current basis of the investor's previously held interest and
adopt the equity method of accounting as of the date the investment becomes qualified for equity method
accounting. The Company adopted the standard effective October 1, 2017, The adoption did not have a material
impact an the consolidated financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2018-16, which requires that entities recognize the income tax
conseguences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset, other than inventary, when the transfer occurs. The Company
will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2018. The Adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements,

In Movemnber 2016, the FASE issued ASLU 2016-18, which requires that a statement of cash flows includes the
total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents
when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts. The Company will adopt the standard
effective October 1, 2018, The adoption will impact the presentation of transactions related to the ULS, litigation
escrow account on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

In March 2017, the FASE issued ASL 2017-07, which requires that the service cost component of net penodic
pension and postretirement benefit cost be presented in the same line item as other employee compensation costs,
while the other components be presented separately as non-operating income (expense). Currently, all net periodic
pension and postretirement benefit costs are presented in personnel expense on the Company's consolidated
statement of operations. The Company will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2018. The adoption is not
expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial staterments,

In May 2017, the FASE issued ASU 2017-09, which amends the scope of modification accounting for share-
based payment arrangements. Specifically, an entity would not apply modification accounting if the fair value,
vesting conditions, and classification of the awards are the same immediately before and after the modification. The
Company will adopt the standard effective Cetaber 1, 2018. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact
on the consclidated financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASE issued ASU 2018-02, which allows a reclassification from accumulated other
comprehensive income to retained eamings for adjustments to tax effects that were ariginally recorded in other
comprehensive income due to changes in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate resulting from the enactment
of the U.S. tax reform legislation, commoenly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act”). The Company
will adopt the standard effective October 1, 2019, The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2018, the FASE issued ASU 2018-05 to insert the SEC's interpretive guidance from Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 118 into the income tax accounting codification under U.S. GAAR The ASU permits companies to use
provisional amounts for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act during a one-year measurement period. The
provisional accounting impacts for the Company may change in future reporting periods until the accounting
analysis is finalized, which will occur no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2019,

In August 2018, the FASE issued ASL 2018-15, which requires implementation costs incurred by customers in
cloud computing arrangements to be deferred and recognized over the term of the arrangement, if those costs
would be capitalized by the customer in a software licensing arrangement under the internal-use software guidance.
The standard will be effective for the Company on October 1, 2020. However, the Company is evaluating the effect
that ASU 2018-15 will have on its consolidated financial statements and is considering early adoption of the
standard.
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MNote 2—U.5. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans
U.5. Retrospective Responsibility Plan

The Company has established several related mechanisms designed to address potential liability under
certain litigation referred to as the *U.S. covered litigation.” These mechanisms are included in and referred to as
the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan and consist of a U.S. litigation escrow agreement, the conversion feature
of the Company's shares of class B commoen stock, the indemnification obligations of the Visa U.S.A. members, an
interchange judgment sharing agreement, a loss sharing agreement and an omnibus agreement, as amended,

LS. covered litigation consists of a2 number of matters that have been settled or otherwise fully or substantially
resolved, as well as the following:

+ the Interchange Mullidisinict Litigation. In re Payment Card Interchange Fee and Merchant Discount
Antitrust Litigation, 1:05-md-01720-JG-JO (E.D.MN.Y) or MDL 1720, including all cases currently included in
MOL 1720, any other case that includes claims for damages relating to the period prier to the Company's
IFO that has been or is transferred for coordinated or consolidated pre-trial proceedings at any time to MDL
1720 by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation or otherwise included at any time in MOL 1720 by order
of any court of competent jurisdiction;

+ any claim that challenges the reorganization or the consummation thereof, provided that such claim is
transferred for coordinated or consolidated pre-trial proceedings at any time to MDL 1720 by the Judicial
Panel on Multidistrict Litigation or otherwise included at any time in MOL 1720 by order of any court of
competent jurisdiction; and

« any case brought after October 22, 2015 by a merchant that opted out of the Rule 23(b)(3) settlement class
pursuant to the 2012 Settlement Agreement in MDL 1720 that arises out of facts or circumstances
substantially similar to those alleged in MDOL 1720 and that is not transferred to or otherwise included in
MDL 1720. See Note 17—Legal Matters.

U.S. ltigation escrow agreement |n accordance with the U.S. litigation escrow agreement, the Company
maintains an escrow account, from which seftlements of, or judgments in, the U.S. covered litigation are paid. The
amount of the escrow is determined by the board of directors and the Company's litigation committee, all members
of which are affiliated with, or act for, certain Visa U.S A members. The escrow funds are held in money market
irvestments along with the interest earned, less applicable taxes and are classified as restricted cash on the
consolidated balance sheets.

The following table sets forth the changes in the restricted cash—U.S. litigation escrow account by fiscal year:

2018 2017

{in millions)
Balance at beginning of penod 5 1,031 % 1,027
Deposits into the litigation escrow account 600 —
Paymenis to opt-out merchants and interest earmned on escrow funds!™ (140) 4
Balance at end of period $ 1,491 35 1,031

1 These payments are associtted with the interchange multidistrict Itigation. See Note 17—Legal Matters.

The accrual related to the U.S. covered litigation could be either higher or lower than the U.S. litigation escrow
account balance. The Company recorded an additional accrual of $600 million for the U.S. covered litigation during
fiscal 2018. No additional accrual was recorded for the U.S. covered litigation during fiscal 2017, See Nole 17—
Legail Matters.
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Cornversion feature. Under the terms of the plan, when the Company funds the U.S. litigation escrow account,
the shares of class B common stock are subject to dilution through an adjustment to the conversion rate of the
shares of class B common stock to shares of class A common stock. This has the same economic effect on diluted
class A common stock eamings per share as repurchasing the Company's class A common stock, because it
reduces the class B conversion rate and consequently the as-corwerted class A common stock share count. See
Note 11—Stockholdars’ Eguity.

Indemnification obfigations. To the extent that amounts available under the U.S litigation escrow arangement
and other agreements in the plan are insufficient to fully resolve the LS. covered litigation, the Company will use
commercially reasonable efforts to enforce the indemnification obligations of Visa U .S A’s members for such
excess amount, including but not limited to enforcing indemnification obligations pursuant to Visa U 5. A 's certificate
of incorperation and bylaws and in accordance with their membership agreements.

Interchange judgment shaning agresement. Visa U.S. A and Visa International have entered into an interchange
judgment sharing agreement with certain Visa U.S.A members that have been named as defendants in the
interchange multidistrict litigation, which is described in Note 17—Legal Malfers. Under this judgment sharing
agreement, Visa U.S A members that are signatories will pay their membership proportion of the amount of a final
judgment not allecated to the conduct of MasterCard,

Loss sharing agreement. Visa has entered into a loss sharing agreement with Visa U.S A, Visa International
and certain Visa U.5 A, members. The loss sharing agreement provides for the indemnification of Visa ULS A, Visa
International and, in certain circumstances, Visa with respect to: (i) the amount of a final judgment paid by Yisa
U.S.A or Visa International in the U.S. covered litigation after the operation of the interchange judgment sharing
agreement, plus any amounts reimbursable to the interchange judgment sharing agreement signataries; or (i) the
damages portion of a seftlernent of a U.S. covered litigation that is approved as required under Visa US A's
cerificate of incorporation by the vote of Visa LS A's specified voting members. The several obligation of each
bank that is a party to the loss sharing agreement will equal the amount of any final judgment enforceable against
Visa US A, Visa International or any other signatory to the interchange judgment sharing agreement, ar the
amount of any approved settlerent of 2 U.S. covered litigation, multiplied by such bank's then-current membership
proportion as calculated in accordance with Visa LS A 's certificate of incarporation,

On October 22, 2015, Visa entered into an amendment to the loss sharing agreement The amendment
includes within the scope of U.S. covered litigation any action brought after the amendment by an opt out from the
Rule 23(b)(3) Settlement Class in MDL 1720 that arises out of facts or circumstances substantially similar to those
alleged in MDL 1720 and that is not transferred to or otherwise included in MDL 1720 On the same date, Visa
entered into amendments to the interchange judgment sharing agreement and omnibus agreement that include any
such action within the scope of those agreements as well.

Omnibus agreement. Visa entered into an omnibus agreement with MasterCard and certain Visa US.A
members that confirmed and memonalized the signatories’ intentions with respect to the loss sharing agreement,
the interchange judgment shanng agreement and other agreements relating to the interchange multidistrict
litigation, see Nofe 17 —Legal Matlers. Lnder the omnibus agreement, the monetary portion of any setilement of the
interchange multidistrict litigation covered by the omnibus agreement would be divided into a2 MasterCard portion at
33.3333% and a Visa portion at 85.6667%. In addition, the monetary portion of any judgment assigned to Visa-
related claims in accordance with the omnibus agreement would be treated as a Visa portion, Visa would have no
liability for the monetary portion of any judgment assigned to MasterCard-related claims in accordance with the
omnibus agreement, and if a judgment is not assigned to Visa-related claims or MasterCard-related claims in
accordance with the omnibus agreement, then any monetary liability would be divided into a MasterCard portion at
33.3333% and a Visa portion at 66.6667%. The Visa portion of a settlement or judgment covered by the omnibus
agreement would be allocated in accordance with specified provisions of the Company's US. retrospective
responsibility plan. The litigation provision on the consolidated statements of operations was not impacted by the
execution of the omnibus agreement,
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On August 26, 2014, Visa entered into an amendment to the omnibus agreement. The omnibus amendment
makes applicable to certain settlerments in opt-out cases in the interchange multidistrict litigation the settlement-
sharing provisions of the omnibus agreement, pursuant to which the monetary porion of any setilement of the
interchange multidistrict litigation covered by the omnibus agreement would be divided into a MasterCard portion at
33.3333% and a Visa portion at 66.6867%. The omnibus amendment also provides that in the event of termination
of the class settlement agreement, Visa and MasterCard would make mutually acceptable arrangements so that
Visa shall have received two-thirds and MasterCard shall have recewved cne-third of the total of (1) the sums paid to
defendants as a result of the termination of the settlement agreement and (i) the takedown payments previously
made to defendants.

Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plan

UK loss sharing agreement. The Company has entered into a loss sharing agreement with Visa Europe and
certain of Visa Europe's member financial institutions located in the United Kingdom (the “UK LSA members™). Each
of the UK LSA members has agreed, on a several and not joint basis, to compensate the Company for certain
losses which may be incurred by the Company, Visa Europe or their affiliates as a result of certain existing and
potertial litigation relating to the setting and implementation of domestic multilateral interchange fee rates in the
United Kingdom pricr to the closing of the Visa Europe acquisition (the *Closing”), subject to the terms and
conditions set forth therein and, with respect to each LK LSA member, up to a maximurm amount of the up-front
cash consideration received by such UK LSA member. The UK LSA members' obligations under the UK loss
sharing agreement are conditional upon, among other things, either (a) losses valued in excess of the sterling
equivalent on June 21, 2016 of €1.0 billion having arisen in UK covered claims (and such losses having reduced the
corversion rate of the UK&| preferred stock accordingly), or (B) the conversion rate of the UKSI preferred stock
having been reduced to zero pursuant to losses arising in claims relating to multilateral interchange fee rate setting
in the Visa Europe territory.

Litigation management deed. The Company has entered into a litigation management deed with Visa Europe
which sets forth the agreed upon procedures for the management of the VE territory covered litigation, the
allocation of losses resulting from this litigation (the “VE territory covered losses”) between the UK&| and Europe
preferred stock, and any accelerated conversion or reduction in the conversion rate of the shares of UK&! and
Europe preferred stock. The litigation management deed applies only to VE territory covered litigation {and resultant
losses and liabilities), The |tigation management deed provides that the Company will generally control the conduct
of the VE temritory covered litigation, subject to certain obligations to report and consult with the litigation
management committees for VE territory covered litigation (the "WE terrtory litigation management committees”).
The VE territory litigation management committees, which are composed of representatives of certain Visa Europe
members, have also been granted consent rights to approve certain material decisions in relation to the VE territory
covered litigation

The Company obtained certain protections for VE territory covered losses through the UK&l and Europe
preferred stock, the UK loss sharing agreement, and the litigation management deed, referred to as the “Europe
refrospective responsibility plan.” The plan covers VE territory covered litigation (and resultant liabilities and losses)
relating to the covered peried, which generally refers to the period before the Closing Visa's protection from the
plan is further limited to 70% of any liabilities where the claim relates to inter-regional multilateral interchange fee
rates where the issuer is located outside the Visa Europe territory, and the merchant is located within the Visa
Europe territory. The plan does not protect the Company in Europe against all types of litigation or remedies or fines
imposed in competition law enforcement proceedings, anly the interchange litigation specifically covered by the
plam's terms.

Unlike the LS. retrospective responsibility plan, the Europe retrospective respansibility plan does not have an
escrow account that is used to fund settlements or judgments. The Company is entitled to recover VE territory
covered losses through a periodic adjustment to the class A common stock conversion rates applicable to the UKE
and Europe preferred stock, The total amount of protection available through the preferred stock compeonent of the
Europe retrospective responsibility plan is eguivalent to the as-converted value of the preferred stock, which can be
calculated at any point in time as the product of: (a) the cutstanding number of shares of preferred stock; (b) the
current conversion rate applicable to each class of preferred stock; and (c) Visa's class A common stock price. This
amount differs fram the value of the preferred stock recorded within stockholders' equity on the Company's
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consolidated balance sheets. The book value of the preferred stock reflects its historical value recorded at the
Closing less VE territory covered losses recovered through a reduction of the applicable conversion rate. The book
value does not reflect changes in the underlying class A commeon stock price subsequent to the Closing.

Visa Inc. net income will not be impacted by VE territory covered losses as long as the as-converted value of
the preferred stock is greater than the covered loss. VE territary covered losses will be recorded when the loss is
deermed to be probable and reasonably estimable, or in the case of attorney's fees, when incurred. Concurrently,
the Company will record a reduction to stockholders' equity, which represents the Company's right to recover such
losses through adjustments to the conversion rate applicable to the preferred stock. The reduction to stockholders'
equity is recorded in a contra-equity account referred to as “right to recover for covered losses.”

VE terribory covered losses may be recorded before the corresponding adjustment to the applicable
corversion rate is effected Adjustments to the conversion rate may be executed once in any six-month period
unless a single, individual loss greater than €20 million is incurred, in which case, the six-month limitation does not
apply. When the adjustmert to the conversion rate is made, the amount previously recorded in “right to recover for
covered losses” as contra-equity will then be recorded against the book value of the preferred stock within
stockholders' equity.

During the year ended September 30, 2018, the Company recovered 356 million of VE territory covered losses
through adjustments to the class A common stock conversion rates applicable to the UKA&I and Europe preferred
stock. The conversion rates applicable to the UK&l and Europe preferred stock were reduced from 13.077
and 13.848, respectively, as of September 30, 2017 to 12.955 and 13.888, respectively, as of September 30, 2018

The fallowing table sets forth the activities related to VE territory covered losses in preferred stock and “right to
recover for covered losses” within equity during the year ended September 30, 2018. VE territory covered losses
incurred reflect settlements with merchants and additional legal costs. See Note 17—Legal Malters.

Preferred Stock

Right to Recower for

UK&El Europe Coverad Losses
{in millions)
Balance as of September 30, 2017 3 2326 % 3,200 % (52}
VE territory covered losses incurred — — (1)
Recovery through conversion rate adjustment {35) (21) 56
Balance as of September 30, 2018 ] 2281 % 31798 % {7)

The following table sets forth the as-converted value of the preferred stock available to recover VE territory
covered losses compared to the book value of preferred shares recorded in stockholders' equity within the
Company's consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and 2017

September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017
As-Converted As-Converted
Value of Value of
Preferrad Book Value of Prefarrad Book Value of
Stock™ Preferred Stock Stock® Praferred Stock
{in millions)

LIK&| preferred stock $ 4823 % 2201 § 3414 % 2,326
Europe preferred stock 6,580 3,178 4634 3,200
Total 11,403 5470 8,048 5,526
Less: right to recover for covered losses (7) (7) {52) (52)
Total recovery for covered losses available % 11,386 $§ 5483 5 7006 % 5474

" Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. As-converted and book values of preferred stock are based on unrounded
numbers,
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1 The as-converted value of preferred stock is calculated as the product of: (a) 2 million and 3 million shares of the UKE&| and Eurcpe prefered
stock ocutstanding, respectively, as of September 30, 2018; (b) 12.955 and 13.888, the class A common stock conversion rate applicable to
the UKE] and Ewrcpe prefered stock cutstanding. respectively, as of September 30, 2018; and {c) $150.09, Visa's class A common stock

 closing stock price as of September 20, 2018, Eamnings per share is calculsted based on unrounded numbess.

' The as-converted value of preferred stock is calculated as the product of: (a) 2 million and 2 million shares of the UKE&| and Europe preferned
stock cutstanding, respectively, as of September 30, 2017 (b) 13077 and 13.948, the class A common stock conversion rate applicable to
the LUKAI and Eurcpe preferred stock ocutstanding, respectively, as of September 30, 2017, and (e) $105.24, Visa's class A common stock
clasing stock price as of September 30, 2017, Earmings per share is calculated based on unrounded numbers.

Mote 3—Fair Value Measurements and Investments
Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value. See Nole 1—Summary of Significant
Accourting Policles.

Asselfs and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recuring Basis
Fair Value Measurements atl Septernber 30
Using Inputs Considered as
Leval 1 Level 2
Z018 amT e 2017

{in millions)

Assets
Cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Maney market funds $ 6,252 3% 5,935
U5, govermment-sponsored debt securities § 1,048 5 2,870
Investment securities, trading:
Equity securities a8 82
Investment securities, available-for-sale:
U.S. government-sponsored debt securities £,008 3,663
LS. Treasury securities 2,608 1,621
Equity securities 15 124
Prepaid and other current assets:
Foreign exchange denvative instruments K 18
Other assets:
Total % 8873 % 7762 § 6134 5 6,551
Liabilities
Accrued liabilities:
Foreign exchange derivative instruments s 22 5 a8
Total $ - 5 — 5 22 3 2]

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 assets during fiscal 2018,

Leval 1 assels meaasured al fair value on a recurring basis, Money market funds, publicly-traded equity
securities and LS. Treasury securities are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, as fair value is based
on quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2 assefs and liabilifies measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value of LLS. government-
sponsored debt securities, as provided by third-party pricing vendors, is based on quoted prices in active markets
for similar, not identical, assets. The pricing data obfained from outside sources is reviewed internally for
reasonableness, compared against benchmark quotes from independent pricing sources, then confirmed or revised
accordingly. Foreign exchange derivative instruments are valued using inputs that are cbservable in the market or
can be derived principally from or cormoborated by observable market data. There were no substantive changes to
the valuation technigues and related inputs used o measure fair value during fiscal 2018.
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Assels Measurad at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis

Nor=markelable equity investments and investments accounted for under the equily method These
investments are classified as Level 3 due to the absence of quoted market prices, the inherent lack of liquidity and
the fact that inputs used to measure fair value are unobservable and require management's judgment When
certain events or circumstances indicate that impairment may exist, the Company revalues the investments using
various assumptions, including the financial metrics and ratios of comparable public companies. There were no
significant impairment charges incumed during fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, At September 30, 2018 and 2017, these
investments totaled 5137 million and 394 million, respectively. These assets are classified in other assets on the
consolidated balance sheets,

Nor-financial assets and fiabilifies. Long-lived assets such as goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets, finite-
lived intangible assets and property, equipment and technology are considered non-financial assets. The Company
does not have any non-financial liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. Finite-lived intangible
assets primarily consist of customer relationships, trade names and reseller relationships, all of which were
obtained through acquisitions, See Note S5—Infangibile Assets and Goodwil

If the Company were required to perform a guantitative assessment for impairment testing of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets, the fair values would generally be estimated using an income approach. As the
assumptions employed to measure these assets on a non-recuming basis are based on management’s judgment
using internal and external data, these fair value determinations are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
The Company completed its annual impairment review of its indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill as of
February 1, 2018, and concluded that there was no impairment Mo recent events or changes in circumstances
indicate that impairment existed at September 30, 2018. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Paolicies.

Other Fair Value Disclosures

Lang-term debt. Debt instruments are measured at amorized cost on the Company's consolidated balance
sheets at September 30, 2018 and 2017. The fair value of these notes, as provided by third-party pricing vendors, is
based on quoted prices in active markets for similar, not identical, assets. The pricing data obtained from outside
sources is reviewed internally for reasonableness, compared against benchmark quotes from independent pricing
sources, then confirmed or revised accordingly. If measured at fair value in the financial statements, these
instruments would be classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value and estimated fair value of
long-term debt were both §16.6 billion as of September 30, 2018. The carrying value and estimated fair value of
long-term debt was $18.4 billion and $19.2 billion, respechively, as of September 30, 2017,

Other Financial Instruments not Measured at Fair Vaiue

The following financial instruments are not measured at fair value on the Company’s consalidated balance
sheet at September 30, 2018, but require disclosure of their fair values: time deposits recorded in prepaid expenses
and other current assets, settlement receivable and payable and customer collateral. The estimated fair value of
such instruments at September 30, 2018 approximates their carrying value due to their generally short maturities. If
measured at fair value in the financial statements, these financial instruments would be classified as Level 2 in the
fair value hierarchy.

Investments
Trading Investmen! Secunties

Trading investment securities include mutual fund equity secunty investments related to various employee
compensation and benefit plans. Trading activity in these investments is at the direction of the Company's
employees. These investments are held in trust and are not available for the Company's operational or liquidity
needs. Interest and dividend income and changes in fair value are recorded in non-operating income, and offset in
personnel expense on the consolidated statements of operations, As of Septemnber 30, 2018 and 2017, trading
investment securities totaled 328 million and 382 million, respechvely.
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Available-for-sale nvesiment Securities

The amontized cost, unrealized gains and losses and fair value of available-for-sale investment securities are
as follows:

Seplember 30, 2018 September 30, 2017
Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair
Cost Galns Losses Walue Cost Galns Losses Walue
{in millions)
LS. government-sponsored debt
securities $ 5016 % — 3% (3% 508 3% 3664 %5 15 (2)% 3863
LS Treasury securities 2,516 — {8) 2,508 1,623 - (2) 1,621
Equity securities 4 1 —_ 15 5] 119 — 124
Total $ 753 % 1% (18)% 7531 5 5292 5 120 % (4 % 5408
Less: current portion of
available-for-sale investment
securities $ (3.,449) % (3.482)
Long-term available-for-sale
investment securities $ 4,082 $ 1926

Available-for-sale investrment securities primarily include U5, Treasury securities and US. government-
sponsored debt securities. Available-for-sale debt securities are presented below in accordance with their stated
maturities. A portion of these investments, $4.1 billion, are classified as non-current, as they have stated maturities
of more than one year from the balance sheet date. However, these investments are generally available to meet
short-term liquidity needs.

Amortized Cost Fair Valua
{in milllons}

September 30, 2018:

Due within one year 3 3443 & 3,434
Due after 1 year through 5 years 4089 4082
Due after 5 years through 10 years pi =
Cue after 10 years — —_
Total 5 7532 5 7,516
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Invesiment Income

Irvestment income is recorded as non-operating income in the Company's consolidated statements of
operations and consisted of the following:

Faor the Years Ended

September 30,
FINT] 2017 206
(in millions)
Interest and dividend income on cash and investments % 173 % 92 % 75
Gain on other investments —_ & 5
Investment securities, trading:
Unrealized gains, net 2 G 3
Realized gains, net 4 2 =
Investment securities, available-for-sale:
Realized gains (losses), net from sales 28 (1) 3
Realized gains from donation 183 —_ —_
Other-than-temporary impairment on investments — - (4)
Investment income ] 470 5 106 % a2
MNote 4—Property, Equipment and Techneology, Net
Property, equipment and technology, net, consisted of the following:
September 30, September 30,
018 M7
(i millli ons)
Land 5 69 3 72
Buildings and building improvements 898 865
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements 1,661 1,534
Construction-in-progress 153 139
Technology 2916 2,533
Total property, equipment and technelogy 5,697 5143
Accumuiated depreciation and amortization (3,225) (2,890)
Property, equipment and technology, net ] 2472 & 2,253

Technology consists of both purchased and internally developed software. Internally developed software
primarily represents software utilized by the VisaMet electronic payments network. At September 30, 2018 and
2017, accumulated amortization for technology was 1.9 billion and $1.7 billion, respectively.

At September 30, 2018, estimated future amortization expense on technology was as follows:

Eiscal vear ending September 30, 20149 2020 2024 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
{In milllons})

Estimated future amortizationexpense $ 309 % 257 § 195 & 128 § 69 § 2% 990

Depreciation and amaortization expense related to property, equipment and technology was 5558 million, 5500
million and 452 million for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Included in those amounts was amortization
expense on technology of 3312 million, $285 million and $2359 million for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Note 5—Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Indefinite-lived and finite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following:

September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization Het Gross Amaortization Nat
{in millions)

Finite-lived intangible assets:

Customer relationships 5 452 § (274) $ 178 5 438 3 (237) 3 2m

Trade names 199 (106) 83 195 [93) 102

Reseller relationships a5 (82) 13 a5 (79} 16

Other 17 (11) 6 17 (9) 8
Total finite-lived intangible assets T63 (473) 280 745 (418) 327
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:

Customer relationships and

reacquired rights 23,184 — 23,184 23,437 —_ 23,437

Visa trade name 4,084 — 4,084 4084 —_ 4084
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets 27,268 — 27,268 27,521 — 2rs21
Total intangible assets § 28031 § (473) § 27,558 T 28266 3 (418) 5 27,848

Amartization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets was 355 million, $56 million and 350 million for

fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. At September 30, 2018, estimated future amortization expense on finite-
lived intangible assets is as follows:

Eiscal year ending September 30, 209 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereaftar Total
{in millions)

Estimated future amortizationexpense 56 3 9 % 6 % S0% 2B S 44 3 280

There was no impairment related to the Company's indefinite-lived or finite-lived intangible assets during fiscal
2018, 2017 or 2016.

In February 2017, the Company acquired a business for a total purchase consideration net of cash received of
approximately 3302 million, paid primarily with cash on hand. Total purchase consideration has been allocated to
the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired, and to liabilities assumed based on their respective fair
valugs on the acquisition date. Related finite-lived intangible assets recorded totaled 5104 million with a weighted-
average useful life of eight years. Goodwill of 3181 million was recorded to reflect the excess purchase
consideration over net assets acquired. The consolidated financial statements include the operating results of the
acquired business from the date of acquisition. Pro forma information related to the acquisition has not been
presented as the impact is not material to the Company’s financial results,

The decrease in total net intangible assets and goodwill during fiscal 2018 was primarily related to foreign
currency translation, which is recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the
conselidated balance sheets.
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Mote 6—Debt

The Compary had outstanding debt as follows:

September 30, 218 September 30, 2017

Effective
Principal Amount Princlpal Amount Interest Rate
{in millions, except percentages)

1.20% Senior Motes due 2017 (the “2017 MNotes™) — 1,750 1.37%
2.20% Senior Motes due 2020 (the "2020 Motes”) 3,000 3,000 2.30%
2.15% Senior Motes due September 2022 (the "Septernber 2022

Motes") 1,000 1,000 2.30%
2.80% Senior Motes due December 2022 (the "December 2022

Motes") 2,250 2,250 2.89%
3.15% Senior Motes due 2025 (the "2025 Motes”) 4,000 4,000 3.26%
2.75% Senior Motes due 2027 (the "2027 Motes™) 750 750 291%
4.15% Senior Motes due 2035 (the "2035 MNotes™) 1,500 1,500 4,23%
4,.30% Senior Motes due 2045 (the "2045 Motes”) 3,500 3,500 4. 37%
3.65% Senior Motes due 2047 (the "2047 Notes™ 750 750 373%
Total debt ¥ 16,750 % 15,500
Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs (120) (133)
Less: current portion of long-term debt — (1,749)
Total long-term debt $ 16,630 % 16,618

Senior Noles

In Septernber 2017, the Company issued fixed-rate senior notes (the September 2022 MNates, 2027 MNates and
2047 Motes, or collectively, the "Motes issued in 2017") in an aggregate principal amount of $2.5 billion, with
maturities ranging between & and 30 years. Interest on the MNotes issued in 2017 is payable semi-annually on March
15 and September 15 of each year, commencing March 15 2018, The net aggregate proceeds from the Notes
issued in 2017, after deducting discounts and debt issuance costs, were approximately $2.5 billion

Use of Proceeds from Notes issued in 2017, On September 11, 2017, the Company called for redemption of
all of the $1.75 billion principal amount outstanding of the 2017 Notes in accordance with the optional redemption
provisions set forth in the governing indenture. Subsequent to fiscal 2017, on October 11, 2017, the redemplion
date, the Company redeemed all of the $1.75 billion principal amount. The redemption was funded with the
proceeds from the Motes issued in 2017,

The indenture governing the Company's outstanding senior notes, or collectively, the "Notes’, contains
customary event of default provisions, The Motes are senior unsecured cbligations of the Company, ranking equally
and ratably among themselves and with the Company's existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated debt
The MNotes are not secured by any assets of the Company and are not guaranteed by any of the Company's
subsidiaries. The Company was in compliance with all related covenants as of September 30, 201 8. Each series of
Motes may be redeemed as a whole or in part at the Company's option at any time at specified redemption prices.

The Company recognized related interest expense of 33550 million and 3505 million in fiscal 2018 and fiscal
2017, respectively, as non-operating expense.

At September 30, 2018, future principal payments on the Company's outstanding delt are as follows:

Fiscal vear ending Septemster 30, 209 2020 2021 022 2023 Thareafter Tatal
{In milllons)
Future principal payments s - 3 — % 3000 $ 1000 % 2200 $ 10500 $ 18,750
30
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Commercial Paper Program

Visa maintains a commercial paper program to support its working capital requirements and for other general
corporate purposes. Under the program, the Company is authorized to issue up to $3.0 billion in outstanding notes,
with maturities up to 397 days from the date of issuance. The Company had no outstanding obligations under the
program as of September 30, 2018 and 2017,

Credit Facility

The Company is a party to a credit agreement for a S-year, unsecured 34.0 billion revolving credit facility (the
“Credit Facility"} which expires on January 27, 2022, Berrowings under the Credit Facility are available for general
corporate purposes. Interest on borrowings under the Credit Facility would be charged at the London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIEOR) or an aternative bage rate, in each case plus applicable margins that fluctuate bazed on the
applicable rating of senior unsecured long-term securities of the Company. The Company has agreed to pay a
commitmment fee which will fluctuate based on such applicable rating of the Company. The Company had no
amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Mote 7—Pension, Postretirement and Other Benefits

The Company sponsors various gqualified and non-gualified defined berefit pension and other
postretirement benefit plans that provide for retirement and medical benefits for all eligible employees residing in
the United States. The Company also sponsors other pension benefit plans that provide benefits for
internationally-based employees at certain non-U.S. locations.

Disclosures presented below include the U.S. pension plans and the non-ULS. plans, comprising only the
Visa Europe plans. Disclosures relating to other U.S. postretirement benefit plans and other non-U.S. pension
benefit plans are not included as they are immaterial, individually and in aggregate. The Company uses a
September 30 measurement date for its pension and other postretirernent benefit plans.

Defined benefit pension plans. The US. pension benefits under the defined benefit pension plan were
earned based on a cash balance formula. An employee's cash balance account was credited with an amount
equal to 6% of eligible compensation plus interest based on 30-year Treasury securities. In October 2015, the
Company's board of directors approved an amendment of the LS. qualified defined benefit pension plan such
that the Company discontinued employer provided credits after December 31, 2015, Flan participants continue
to earn interest credits on existing balances at the time of the freeze. As a result, a curtailment gain totaling 58
million was recegnized in fiscal 2016 as part of the Company's net periodic benefit cost.

The funding policy for the U.S. pension benefits is to contribute annually no less than the minimum required
contribution under ERISA.

Under the Visa Europe UK pension plans, presented below under “non-ULS. plans”, retirement benefits are
provided based on the participants' final pensionable pay and are currently closed to new entrants. However,
future benefits continue to accrue for active participants. The funding policy is to contribute in accordance with
the appropriate funding requirements agreed with the trustees of the LIK pension plans. Additional amounts may
be agreed with the UK pension plan trustees.
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Summary of Flan Activities

Reconciliation of pension benefit obligations, plan assets, funded status and amounts recognized
in the Company's consclidated balance sheets:

U.5. Plans Hon-U.5. Plans
September 30, September 30,
2018 HAT 2018 207
{im millions)
Change in Pension Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation—beginning of fiscal year 5 M3 5 1072 § 433 5 474
Service cost = L 4 &
Interest cost 32 as 12 11
Actuanal loss (gain) {38) (58) 24 (52)
Benefit payments {63) (137) (9) (14)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — — (12) 8
Benefit obligation—end of fiscal year $ 844 5 913 § 452 5 433
Accumulated benefit obligation ] 844 3 913 § 452 5 433
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets—beginning of fiscal year § 1,074 5 1077 $ 433 3 415
Actual return on plan assets 78 125 13 17
Company contribution 1 2] 11 5
Benefit payments (83) {137) (9) (14}
Foreign cumency exchange rate changes — — (12) 10
Fair value of plan assets—end of fiscal year 3 1,080 5 1074 § 436 5 433
Funded status at end of fiscal year 5 248 3 161 $ (18) 3 —
Recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheets:
Mon-currert asset % 252 % 168 $ — 5 5
Current liability (1) (1 (10) (3)
Non-currert liability (5) () (6) —
Funded status at end of fiscal year % 246 § 161 $ (16) S —

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income before tax:

U.5. Plans Non-U.5. Plans
September 30, September 30,
2018 2017 2018 2mT
{im milllons)
Met actuarnal loss $ 47 5 a7 % 39 5 ]
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Benefit obligations in excess of plan assets related to the Company’s U.5. non-gqualified plan and
the non-U.5. pension plans:

U5, Plans Hon-U.S, Plans
September 30, September 30,
2018 27 2018 2017
{in milllons)

Accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

Accumulated benefit obligation—end of year (8) 5 (1% (452) 3 (3)
Fair value of plan assets—end of year % i == 436 % i
Projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

Benefit obligation—end of year 5 (8) 3 (1% (452) 5 (5}
Fair value of plan assets—end of year $ - § — 5 436 & —
Net periodic pension cost:
U.5. Plans Nen-U.5. Plans'™
For the Years Ended September 30,
2018 2047 2016 208 2047 208
(i millions)
Service cost % — 3 — 3 13 8 4 3 6 3 i
Interest cost 32 36 40 12 " 3
Expected return on assels (T0) (70 (69) (20) (16) (4)
Amortization of prior service credit — — {1} — — -
Amortization of actuarial loss — 15 7 = 2 —_
Curtailment gain — - {2) — — —
Seftlement loss 3 %5 13 — _ —_
Total net periodic benefit cost % (35) & (4 % 5) % {4) & 3 % —_

M For fiscal 2016, the amounts represent the Visa Europe plans net pension benefit cost recognized from the Closing through September
30, 20186,

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income:

U.5. Plans Nom-U. & Plans
For the Years Ended September 30,
018 2017 2016 2018 FITH 26
{in millions)

Current year actuarial loss (gain) 5 47 % (13 % 30 § 30 % (53) & 66
Amortization of actuarial (loss) gain (3) (30) (20) — (2) —
Amortization of prior service credit — - g == — =
Total recognized in other comprehensive

income 3 (50) 3 (143) & 19 8 3 5 (55) 3 66
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost

and other comprehensive income s {(88) 5 (147) % 14 $ 28 5 (52) % GE
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Weighted-Average Actuarial Assumptions:

U.5. Plans Mon-U.S. Plans
For the Years Ended September 30,
08 2017 2016 L 217 2016
Discount ratel!! for benefit obligation:
Pension 4.23% 384% 362% 290% 270% 240%
Discount rate for net periodic benefit cost:
Pensian 384% 362% 433% 27T0% 240% 310%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets®  7.00% 7.00% 7.00% 4.26% 450% 392%
Rate of increase!® in compensation levels for:

Benefit obligation NA A NA  3.20% 320% 320%
Met periodic benefit cost NA MA MA  3.20% 320% 3.00%

" Represents a single weighted-average discount rate denved besed on a cash flow matching analysis, with the projected benefit
payments matching spot rates from a yield curve developed frem high-quality corporate bonds.

= Primanly based on the targeted allocation, and eveluated for reasonableness by considering such factors as: (i) actual retum on plan
assels; (i) historical rates of relurn on varous assel classes in the porfolicd (i) prejeclions of relums on vanous assel classes; and

(iv) current and prospective capilal market condtions and economic forecasts.
= This assumption is not applicable for the U.5. plans due to the amendment of the U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan in Oclober
2015, which discontinued the employer provided credits effective after December 31, 2015,

Fension Flan Assets

Pension plan assets are managed with a long-term perspective to ensure that there is an adequate level of
assets to support benefit payments to paricipants over the life of the pension plan. Pension plan assets are
managed by external investment managers. Investment manager performance is measured against benchmarks
for each asset class on a quarterly basis. An independent consultant assists management with investment
manager selections and performance evaluations.

Pension plan assets are broadly diversified to maintain a prudent level of risk and to provide adequate
liquidity for benefit payments. The Company generally evaluates and rebalances the pension plan assets, as
appropnate, to ensure that allocations are consistent with its investment strategy and within target allocation
ranges. For U.S. pension plan assets, the Company's investment strategy is to invest in the following: equity
gecuriies of 50% to 80%, fixed income securities of 25% to 35% and other, primarily consisting of cash
equivalents to meet near term expected benefit payments and expenses, of up to 7%. At September 30, 2018,
U.5. pension plan asset allocations for these categornies were 65%, 29% and 6%, respectively, which were within
target allocation ranges.

Foer non-U.S. pension plan assets, the Company's investrment strategy is to invest in the following: equity
securities of 15%, interest and inflation hedging assets of 40% and other of 45%, consisting of cash, certain
multi-asset funds and property. At September 30, 2018, nen-U.S. pension plan asset allocations for these
categories were 16%, 38% and 46%, respectively, which were generally aligned with the target allocations,
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The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the pension plan's investments at fair
value as of Septemnber 30, 2018 and 2017, including the impact of transactions that were not settled at the end
of September:

U.5. Plans
Fair Value Measuraments a Soptambar 30 U‘SII‘IQ lnputs Considerad as
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
18 2017 2048 w7 20HE 2017 g 2T
{in millions)
Cash equivalents $§ B85 3 3 £ B85 & 3
Collective investment funds 571 240 571 240
Corporate debt securities 187 197 187 197
LS. government-sponsored debt
securities 30 47 30 a7
LS. Treasury securities 62 75 862 75
Asset-backed secunties 34 39 3 39
Equity securities 141 145 141 145
Total $ 268 § 251 % 7B £ VB4 § 234 5 39 $1,090 51074
Non=U. &, Plans
Fair Value Measurements at September 30 Using Inputs Considerad as
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tutal
018 2017 2018 w7 2018 2017 FIoE 2047
{in millians)
Cash equivalents 5 6 3 1 s & 5 1
Corporate debt securities — 39 — 38
UK Treasury securities — 150 — 150
Asset-backed securities 33 a2 33 32
Equity securities 68 134 68 134
Multi-asset securities (™ 329 T iz 7
Total $ T4 %5 285 % 3@ 3 116 % 333 32 8% 438 5 433

M Mulli-asset securities represent pension plan assets that are invested in funds comprised of broad ranges of assets.

Level 1 assets. Cash equivalents (money market funds and time deposits), U.S. and UK Treasury securities
and equity securities are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, as fair value is based on quoted
prices in active markets.

Level 2 assels. Collective investment funds are unregistered investment vehicles that generally commingle
the assets of multiple fiduciary clients, such as pension and other employee benefit plans, to invest in portfolio of
stocks, bonds or other securities. Although the collective irvestment funds held by the plan are ultimately
invested in publicly traded equity securities, their own unit values are not directly observable, and therefore they
are classified as Level 2, The fair values of corporate debt, multi-asset, derivatives and U.S. government-
sponscred securities are based on quoted prices in active markets for similar assets as provided by third-party
pricing vendors. This pricing data is reviewed internally for reasonableness through comparisons with benchmark
quotes from independent third-party sources. Based on this review, the wvaluation is confirmed or revised
accordingly.

Leval 3 assats, Asset-backed securities are bonds that are backed by various types of assets and primarily
consist of mortgage-backed securities. Asset-backed securities are classified as Level 3 due to a lack of
observable inpuls in measuring fair value.
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There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 assets during fiscal 2018 or 2017. A roll-forward of
Level 3 plan assets measured at fair value is not presented because activities during fiscal 2018 and 2017 were
immaterial.

Cash Flows
U5, Plans Hon-U. S, Plans

Actual employer contributions {in millions)
2018 i 1% 11
2017 9 5
Expected employer contributions
2019 1 10
Expected benefit payments
2018 150 5
2020 73 5
2021 70 5
2022 B7 5
2023 64 5
2024-2028 284 28

Other Banafils

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan, or 401(k) plan, that covers substantially all of its
employees residing in the United States. Personnel costs included $83 million, $58 million, and $55 million in
fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2018, respectively, for expenses attributable to the Company's employees under the
401(k) plan. The Company's contributions to this 401(k) plan are funded on a current basis, and the related
expenses are recognized in the period that the payroll expenses are incurred

MNote 8—Settlement Guarantee Management

The Compary indemnifies its clients for settlement losses suffered due to failure of any other client to fund its
seftlernent obligations in accordance with the Visa operating rules. This indemnification creates settlerment risk for
the Company due to the difference in timing between the date of a payment transaction and the date of subseguent
settlerment,

Historically, the Company has experienced minimal losses as a result of its settlement risk guarantee.
However, the Compary's future obligations, which could be material under its guarantees, are not determinable as
they are dependent upon future events

The Company's seftlement exposure is limited to the amourt of unsettled Visa payment transactions at any
paint in time, which vary significantly day to day. The Company’'s maximum settlement exposure was $91.7 billion
and the average daily settlement exposure was 356.7 billion during the year ended September 30, 2018.
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The Company maintains and regularly reviews global settlement risk policies and procedures to manage
settiernent exposure, which may require clients to post collateral if certain credit standards are not met. At
September 20, 2018 and 2017, the Company held the following collateral to manage settlement exposure:

ember 30, Saptember 30,
MZME ¥ 2m7

{In milllons)
Cash equivalents 5 1,708 = 1,490
Pledged securities at market value 192 167
Letters of credit 1,382 1,316
Guarantees 860 941
Total $ 4142 3 3914

Cash equivalent collateral reflected in customer collateral on the consolidated balance sheets is held by a
custodian in an account under the Company's name and gwnership. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, 5384 million
of cash equivalert collateral is excluded from the consolidated balance sheets as clients retain beneficial ownership
of it and it is only accessible to the Company in the event of default by the client on its seftlement obligations. All
other collateral is excluded from the consolidated balance sheets. See Note T—=Summary of Significant Accounting
Folicies.

Mote 9—Derivative and Non-derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative Financial Instruments

Designated derivalive financial instrument hedges. The aggregate notional amount of the Company's
derivative contracts outstanding in its hedge program was $2.5 billion at Septernber 30, 2018 and $1.8 killion at
September 30, 2017. As of September 30, 2018, the Company's cash flow hedges in an asset position totaled 578
million and were classified in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consclidated balance sheets, while
cash flow hedges in a liability position totaled $20 milion and were classified in accrued liakilities on the
consolidated balance sheets. These amounts are subject to master nefting agreements, which provide the
Company with a legal right to net settle multiple payable and receivable positions with the same counterparty, in a
single currency through a single payment. However, the Company presents fair values on a gross basis on the
consclidated balance sheets. See Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The Company uses regression analysis to assess hedge effectiveness prospectively and retrospectively. The
effectiveness tests are performed on foreign exchange forward contracts based on changes in the spot rate of the
derivative instrument compared to changes in the spot rate of the forecasted hedged transaction. Forward points
are excluded from effectiveness testing and measurement purposes. Excluded forward points are reported in
earnings. For fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, the amounts by which earnings were reduced relating to excluded
forward points were $9 million, $18 million and $30 million, respectively,

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of denvative contracts is recorded as a component of
accumnulated other comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated balance sheets, When the forecasted
transaction occurs and is recognized in earnings, the amount in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss
related to that hedge is reclassified to operating revenue or expense. The Company expects to reclassify 571
million of pre-tax gains to earnings during fiscal 2019,

Non-designated derivative financial instrument hedges. Subsequent to the acquisition of Visa Europe, the
Company entered into currency forward contracts to offset Visa Europe hedges outstanding at the date of the
acquisition that did not qualify for cash flow hedge accounting treatment in accordance with UL.S. GAAP or the
Company’s accounting policy.

The Company utilizes foreign exchange derivative contracts to hedge against foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations related to certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency held by Visa Europe.
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As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, the aggregate notional amount of these balance sheet hedges was $1.2
billion and $1.0 billion, respectively.

Crecht and market risks. The Company's derivative financial instruments are subject to both credit and market
risk. The Company menitors the credit-worthiness of the financial institutions that are counterparties to its derivative
financial instruments and does not consider the risks of counterparty nonperformance to be significart. The
Company mitigates this risk by entering into master netting agreements, and such agreements require each party to
post collateral against its net liability position with the respective counterparty. As of September 30, 2018, the
Company has received collateral of 356 million, from counterparties, which is included in accrued liabilities in the
consclidated balance sheets, and posted collateral of $2 million, which is included in prepaid expenses and other
current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Motwithstanding the Company’s efforts fo manage foreign
exchange risk, there can be no absolute assurance that its hedging activities will adequately protect against the
risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Credit and market risks related to derivative instruments were
not considered significant as of September 30, 2018,

Non-derivative Financial Instrument Designated as a Net Investment Hedge

As of September 30, 2018, the Company had designated $1.1 billion of its euro-denominated deferred cash
consideration liability, a non-derivative financial instrument, as a hedge against a portion of the foreign currency
exchange rate exposure of the Company's eurc-denominated net investment of 318.8 billion in Visa Europe. During
fiscal 2018, changes in the euro exchange rate against the LS. dollar resulted in net foreign currency translation
adjustments of $0.4 billion

MNote 10—Enterprise-wide Disclosures and Concentration of Business

The Company’s long-lived net property, equipment and technology assets are classified by major gecgraphic
areas as follows:

Seplember 30, September 30,
2018 2m7

{in millions)
United States % 2152 5 2,003
International 320 250
Total 5 2472 § 2,253

Revenue by geographic market is primarily based on the location of the issuing financial institution, Revenues
earned in the United States were approximately 45% of net cperating revenues in fiscal 2018, 47% in fiscal 2017
and 52% in fiscal 2016, No individual country, other than the United States, generated more than 10% of net
operating revenues in these years.

A, significant portion of Visa's operating revenues is concentrated among its largest clients, Loss of business
from any of these clients could have an adverse effect on the Company. The Company did not have any customer
that generated greater than 10% of its net operating revenues in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Mote 11—Stockhelders’ Equity

Visa Eurcpe acquisition. In connection with the Visa Europe acquisition, three new series of preferred stock of
the Company were created. Upon issuance, all of the preferred stock paricipate on an as-conwverted basis in
regular quarterly cash dividends declared on the Company's class A commen stock, Additionally, Visa Europe held
shares of Visa Inc.'s class C common stock, which were treated as treasury stock in purchase accounting. During
fiscal 2017, the newly-formed Visa Foundation received all Visa Inc. shares that were previously recorded as
treasury stock. See Note T6—Income Taxes
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As-converfed class A common sfock. The UK&l and Europe preferred stock, issued in the Visa Eurcpe
acquisition, is convertible upon cerain conditions into shares of class A commeoen stock or class A equivalent
preferred stock, at an initial conversion rate of 13.952 shares of class A common stock for each share of UKE&l and
Europe preferred stock. The corversion rates may be reduced from time to time to offset certain liabilities, See Note

2—U.5 and Europe Retrospective Responsibilify Plans.

The number of shares of each series and class, and the number of shares of class A common stock on an 2s-
converted basis at September 30, 2018, are as follows:

Conversion Rale As-converted
Shares Into Class A Class A Common
Dutstanding Common Stock Stock M
{in millions, except conversion rate)
UKE&| preferred stock 2 12.9550 32
Europe preferred stock 3 13,8880 44
Class A common stock @ 1,768 — 1,768
Class B common stock 245 16298 @ 400
Class C common stock 12 4.0000 47
Total 2.2M

Flgures in the table may nol recalculate exactly due o rounding. As-convered class Acommon slock s caleulated based on unfeunded

numbers,

Class A common stock shares cutstanding reflect repurchases setiled on or before September 30, 2018,

The class B to class A common stock conversion rate is presented on a rounded basis. Conversion calcylations for dividend payments are
based on & conversion rale rcunded tothe tenth decimal.

Reduction in as-converted shares. During fiscal 2018, total as-converted class A common stock was reduced
by 63 milion shares at an average price of 3124.29 per share. Of the 63 million shares, 58 million were
repurchased in the open market using £7.2 billion of operating cash on hand Additionally, in June 2018, the
Company deposited 5800 million of operating cash into the litigation escrow account previously established under
the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan. Alse, the Company recovered 558 million of VE territory covered losses in
accordance with the Europe retrospective responsibility plan during fiscal 2018. The deposit and recovery have the
same economic effect on earnings per share as repurchasing the Company’s class A common stock, because they
reduce the class B common stock conversion rate and the UK&| and Europe preferred stock conversion rates and
consequently, reduce the as-converted class A common stock share count See Nofe 2—U.S and Europe
Retrospective Responsibility Plans.

The following table presents share repurchases in the open market for the following fiscal yearsi™
For the Years Ended September 30,

2018 017 2016

(in millions, excapt per share data)
Shares repurchased in the open market® 58 i 81
Average repurchase price per share!® § 12378 3 8998 % 77.05
Total cost 3 7192 & 6891 § 6,987

Shares repurchased in the open market reflect repurchases settled during fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, These amaounts include repurchases
traded but not yet settled on of before September 30, 2017, September 30, 2016 and Septemnber 30, 2015 for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respaclively. Also, these exclude repurchases traded but not yet settled on of before September 30, 2018, Seplember 30, 2017 and
September 30, 2016 for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Al shares repurchased in the cpen market heve been retired and constitute authorized but unissued shares,

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due torounding. Average repurchase price per share s calculated based en unrounded
numbsers,

In January 2018, the Company's board of directors authonzed an additional 37.5 billion share repurchase
program. This authorization has no expiration date. As of September 30, 2018, the Company's January 2018 share
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repurchase program had remaining authorized funds of 34.2 billion for share repurchase. All share repurchase
programs authorized prior to January 2018 have been completed

Under the terms of the LS. retrospective responsibility plan, when the Company makes a deposit into the
litigation escrow account, the shares of class B commen stock are subject to dilution through a reduction to the
corversion rate of the shares of class B common stock to shares of class A common stock

The following table presents as-converted class B common stock after deposits into the litigation escrow
accourt for fiscal 2018, There were no comparable adjustments recorded for as-corverted class B common stock

during fiscal 2017 and 2016

Faor the Year Ended
September 30, 2018

(im millions, except per share data)

Reduction in equivalent number of as-converted shares of class A common stock 5
Effective price per sharet® B 132 32
Deposits under the LS, retrospective responsibility plan £ E00

Effactive price per share is calculated using the volume-weighted average price of the Company’s class A common stock ower a pricing
period in accordance with the Company's cument certificate of incorporation.

Under the terms of the Europe retrospective responsibility plan, the Company is entitled to recover VE territory
covered losses through periodic adjustments to the class A commaon stock conversion rates applicable to the UKE
and Eurcpe preferred stock. See Note 2—U. 5. and Eurape Retrospective Responsibifity Plans.

The following table presents as-converted UK&I and Europe preferred stock, after the Company recovered VE
territory covered losses through conversion rate adjustments, for fiscal 2018 and 2017. There were no comparable
adjustments recorded for UK&! and Eurcpe preferred stock during fiscal 2016,

UK&l Preferred Stock Europe Preferred Stock
For the Years Ended September 30,
2018 2097 2018 207

{in millions, except per share and conversion rate data)
Reduction in equivalent number of as-converted shares of

class A common stock — i 2 —_ —_
Effective price per share 2 $ 205 5 8370 § M282 3 85D
Recovery through conversion rate adjustment 5 B 5 190 $ 21 g i

The reduction in equivalent number of shares of class A commaon slock was less than one million shares.

Effective price per share for each adjusiment made duning the year is calculated using the volume-weighted average price of the Company’s
class A common stock over a pricing period in accordance with the Company's current certificales of designations for its series B and C
convertible participating preferred stock. Effective price per share for each fiscal year is calculated using the weighted-average effective
prices of the respective adjustiments made during the year.

Cilass B common stock. The class B common stock is not convertible or transferable until the date on which all
of the U.S. covered litigation has been finally resolved. This transfer restriction is subject to limited exceptions,
including transfers to other holders of class B comman stock. After termination of the restrictions, the class B
common stock will be convertible into class A common stock if transferred to a person that was not a Visa Member
(as defined in the current cerificate of incorporation) or similar person or an affiliate of a Visa Member or similar
person, Upon such transfer, each share of class B common stock will automatically convert into a number of shares
of class A common stock based upon the applicable conversion rate in effect at the time of such transfer.

Adjustment of the conversion rate cccurs upon. (i) the completion of any follow-on offering of class A common
stock completed to increase the size of the U.S. litigation escrow account (or any cash deposit by the Company in
lieu thereof) resulting in a further corresponding decrease in the conversion rate; or (i) the final resolution of the
U.5. covered litigation and the release of funds remaining on deposit in the LS. litigation escrow account to the
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Company resulting in a corresponding increase in the conversion rate. See Nate 2—U.5. and Europe Refraspective
Responsibility Plans,

Class C common stock, As of September 30, 2018, all of the shares of class C common stock have been
released from transfer restrictions. A total of 140 million shares have been converted from class C to class A
common stock upon their sale into the public market.

Praferred stock, Preferred stock may be issued as redeemable or non-redeemable, and has preference over
any class of common stock with respect to the payment of dividends and distribution of the Company’s assets in the
event of a liquidation or dissolution. The Company had 5 million shares of UK&l and Europe preferred stock
outstanding at the end of fiscal 2018 and 2017, The shares of UK&| and Europe preferred stock are subject to
restrictions on transfer and may become convertible in stages based on developments in the VE termitory covered
litigation. The shares of UK&| and Europe preferred stock will become fully convertible on the 12th anniversary of
the Closing, subject only to a holdback to cover any then-pending claims. Upon any such conversion of the UK or
Europe preferred stock (whether by such 12th anniversary, or thereafter with respect to claims pending on such
anniversary), the holder would receive either class A common stock or class A equivalent preferred stock (for those
whao are not eligible to hold class A common stock pursuant to the Company's charter). The class A equivalent
preferred stock will be freely transferable and each share of class A equivalent preferred stock will autormatically
corvert into 100 shares of class A common stock upon a transfer to any holder that is eligible to hold class A
common stock under the charter, See Nola 2—U 5. and Ewrope Retrospective Responsibility Plans,

Vioting rights. The holders of the UKEI and Europe preferred stock have no right to vote on any matters, except
for certain defined matters, including, in specified circumstances, any consolidation, merger, combination ar similar
transaction of the Company in which the preferred stockhelders would either (i) receive shares of commaon stock or
other equity securities of the Company with preferences, rights and privileges that are not substantially identical to
the preferences, rights and privileges of the applicable series of preferred stock or (i) receive securities, cash or
other property that is different from what the Company's class A common stockholders would receive. With respect
to these limited matters on which the holders of preferred stock may vote, approval by the preferred stockholders
requires the affirmative vote of the outstanding voting power of each such series of preferred stock, each such
series voling as a single class. In either case, the UK&| and Europe preferred stockholders are entitled to cast a
number of votes equal to the number of shares held by each such holder Holders of the class A eguivalent
preferred stock, upon issuance at conversion, will have similar voting rights to the rights of the holders of the UKE&I
and Europe preferred stock.

Class A common stockholders have the right to vote on all matters on which stockholders generally are entitled
to vote. Class B and C common stockholders have no right to vote on any matters, except for certain defined
matters, including (i) any decision to exit the core payments business, in which case the class B and C common
stockholders will vote together with the class A common stockholders in a single class, and (i) in specified
circumstances, any consolidation, merger, combination or similar transaction of the Company, in which case the
class B and C commoen stockholders will vote together as a single class. In either case, the class B and € common
stockholders are enfitled to cast a number of votes equal to the number of shares of class B or C comman stock
held multiplied by the applicable conversion rate in effect on the record date. Holders of the Company's common
stock have no right to vote on any amendment to the current certificate of incorporation that relates solely to any
seres of prefered stock,

Dividends declared The Company declared and paid 1.9 billion in dividends in fiscal 2018 at a quarterly rate
of 50.195 per share in the first fiscal quarter and 30.21 per share in the remaining guarters of the fiscal year. On
Cctober 16, 2018, the Company's board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of 50.25 per share of class
A common stock (determined in the case of class B and C common stock and UKE&| and Europe preferred stock on
an as-corverted basis), which will be paid on December 4, 2018, to all holders of record of the Company's common
and preferred stock as of Movember 16, 2018,

Mote 12—Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to each class by the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding and participating securities during the period. Net income is
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allocated to each class of common stock and participating securities based on its proportional ownership on an as-
converted basis. The weighted-average number of shares of each class of common stock cutstanding reflects
changes in ownership aver the periods presented. See Note 11—Slockholders” Equily.

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding, participating securities and, if dilutive, potential class A common stock
equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive class A common stock equivalents may consist of: (1)
shares of class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of LIKE&l and Europe preferred stock and class B and
C common stock based on the conversion rates in effect through the period, and (2) incremental shares of class A
commen stock calculated by applying the treasury stock method to the assumed exercise of employee stock
options, the assumed purchase of stock under the Emplayee Stock Purchase Plan and the assumed vesting of
uneamed performance shares.

The following table presents earnings per share for fiscal 2018.t0

Basic Earnings Per Share Diluted Earnings Per Share
{in milllons, except per share data)
Weighted- Weighted-
Income Average Eamings per Income Average Eamings per
Allocation Ehares Sham = Allocation Shares Share =
Ay & Guitstanding (B) {A)B) (A utstanding (B) (A HB)

Class A common stock & 7937 1,782 & 443 |15 10301 2320 H§ 4.42
Clazs B common stock 1,787 245 § 728 |8 1,785 245 - 727
Class C common stock 2158 12 & 17.72 | & 217 12 5 17.68
Participating securities'®! 359 Notpresented Mot presented |5 358 Mot presented Mot presented
Met ncome 5 10,30

The following table presents earnings per share for fiscal 2017.1

oOoOooodn

Basic Eamnings Per Share Diluted Earmnings Per Share
(in millions, except per share data)
Welghted- Weighted-
Incofme Average Eamings per Income Average Eamings per
Allocation Shares Sham = Allocation Shares Share =
(A & Outstanding (B) {AHE) L Qutstanding (E) AHE)
Class A common stock & 5170 1,845 § 280 |5 6,699 2305 1§ 2.80
Class B common stock 1,134 245 5 4682 |5 1132 245 3 461
Class C common stock 163 14 % 11.21 |5 162 14 5 11.1%
Participating securities'®) 232  Motpresented Mot presented | S 232 et presented Mot presented
Met income $ 6699

The following table presents earnings per share for fiscal 20181

Basic Earndngs Per Share Diluted Earnéngs Per Share
{in milllons, except per share data)

Income ‘iﬂgg- Eamings per Income vf:eﬂlnalag Eamings per
Allacation Shares Share = Allacation Shares Share =
(A ¥ CQutstanding (B) {ANB) (R = Qutstanding (B) R HB)
Class A common stock s 4738 1906 % 249 |5 59 2414 #1 § 248
Clazs B common stock 1,006 245 % 410 |5 1.004 25 & 408
Class C common stock 185 19 § 8994 |5 185 19 & 5032
Participating securities'®) 62 HNotpresented Mot presented |5 61 Not presented Mot presented
Met income 3 5899

{1) Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Eamings per share is calculated based on unrounded numbers.
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1 Met income is allocated based on proportional ownership on an as-converted basis. The weighted-average number of shares of as-converted
class B common stock used in the income allocation was 403 million for fiscal 2018, and 405 million for fiscal 2017 and 2016, The weighted-
average number of shares of as-convened class C common stock used In the income allocation was 49 millien, 58 million and 75 million for
fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respeclively. The weighted-average number of shares of prefermed stock included within paricipating securities
was 32 milion and 33 milllen of as-convered UKEI preferred stock for fiscal 2018 and 2017, respectively, and 44 mifion of as-converied
Eurcpe prefemed stock for fiscal 2018 and 2017,

A Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding are caleulated on an as-converted basis, and include Incremental common stock equivalents.
as calculated under the treasury stock method. The computation includes 3 milion common stock equivalents for fiscal 2018, and 5 million
cammon stock equivalents for fiscal 2017 and 2016, because their effect weould have been dilutive. The computation excludes 1 million of
common stock equivalents for fiscal 2018, and 2 million of common stock equivalents for fiscal 2017 and 2016, because their effect would
have been anti-dilutive.

H Participating securities include preferred stock culstanding and unvested share-based payment awards thal contain non-forfeitable rights to
dividends or dividend equivalents, such as the Company's UK&| and Eurcpe preferred stock, restricled stock awards, resiricted stock units
and eamed perfarmance-based shares. Paricipaling secunties’ income is allocaled based on the weighted-average number of shares of as-
converted stock, See Nole 11—Stockholders’ Equity,

Mote 13—Share-based Compensation

2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan

The Company's 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, or the EIF authorizes the compensation
committee of the board of directors to grant non-qualified stock options (“options®), restricted stock awards
("RSAs™), restricted stock umits ("RSUs") and performance-based shares to its employees and nen-employee
directors, for up to 236 milion shares of class A common stock. Shares available for award may be either
autharized and unissued or previously issued shares subsequently acquired by the Company. The EIP will continue
to be in effect until all of the common stock available under the EIP is delivered and all restrictions on those shares
have lapsed, urless the EIP is terminated earlier by the Company's board of directors. Awards may be granted
under the plan until January 31, 2022,

Share-based compensation cost is recorded net of estimated forfeitures on a straight-line basis for awards
with service conditions only, and on a graded-vesting basis for awards with service, performance and market
conditions. For fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded share-based compensation cost related to the
EIF of $312 milion, 5224 million and 3211 million, respectively, in personnel expense on its consolidated
statements of operations. The related tax benefits were 353 million, 367 million and 362 million for fiscal 2018, 2017
and 2016, respectively. The amount of capitalized share-based compensation cost was immaterial during fiscal
2018, 2017 and 2016,

Options

Cptions issued under the EIP expire 10 years from the date of grant and primarily vest ratably over 3 years
from the date of grant, subject to earlier vesting in full under certain conditions.

Curing fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, the fair value of each stock option was estimated on the date of grant
using a Black-Scholes aption pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

For the Years Ended Seplember 30,

2018 2047 2016
Expected term (in years)!® 4 423 435
Risk-free rate of return® 20% 16% 1.5%
Expected volatility® 18.3% 20.2% 21.7%
Expected dividend yield# 0.7% 0.8% 0.7%
Fair value per option granted $ 1824 % 1390 % 15.01

M Until March 2018, this assumption was based on the Company's historical option exercises and those of a set of peer companies that
management believed to be generally comparable to Visa. The Company's data was weighted based on the number of years batween the
measurament date and \Visa's IPO date as a percentage of the options’ contractual term. The relative weighting placed on Visa's data and
peer data for stock oplions granted until March 2018 in fiscal 2018 was approximately 97% and 3%, respectively, 87% and 13% in fiscal
2017, respectively, and 77% and 23% in fiscal 2016, respectivety. The assumplions for stock options granted after March 2016 was based on
Wisa's historical exercise experience as the passage of time since the Compamy’s [PO has exceeded 10 years.
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1 Based upon the 2ero coupon ULS. treasury bond rate over the expected term of the awards.

™ Based on the Company's implied and historcal volatility. The expected vwolatility was approximately 18% in fiscal 2018 and 209 in fiscal 2017
and ranged from 20% to 23% in fiscal 2016.

#  Based on the Company's annual dhidend rate on the date of grant.

The following table summarizes the Company's option activity for fiscal 2018:

Welghted-
Weighted R:;a;an:f: A ate
Av\graga Cm‘!tranmgl I?rtgrll:?;qc
Exercise Price Tarm Value M
Options Per Share (in years) {In millions)
Outstanding at September 30, 2017 7115876 % 5017
Granted 1,646,060 % 110.26
Forfeited (281,952) 93.19
Expired (1,128) & 11.00
Exercised (2,690,016) 5 28.37
Outstanding at September 30, 2018 5788840 % 75.30 6.94 $432
Options exercisable at September 30, 2018 3,000,704 5 55.28 5.42 5285
Options exercisable and expected to vest at
September 30, 20183 5567702 & 7423 G.86 §422

" Calculated using the closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2018 of 515009, less the option exercise price, mulliphied by the
number of imstruments.
& Applies a forfeiture rate to unvested oplions cutstanding at September 30, 2018 to estimate the oplions expecied to vest in the future.

For the options exercised during fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, the total intrinsic value was $249 million, 3178
million and $103 milion, respectively, and the tax benefit realized was 355 million, 362 million and $35 million,
respectively. As of September 30, 2018, there was $22 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average pericd of approximately 0.6 years.

Resiricled Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units

RSAs and RSUs issued under the EIP primarily vest ratably over 3 years from the date of grant, subject to
earlier vesting in full under certain conditions.

Upon vesting, the RSAs are settled in class A common stock on a ane-for-one basis. During the vesting
pericd, RSA award recipients are eligible to receive dividends and participate in the same voting rights as those
grarted to the holders of the underlying class A common stock. Upen vesting, RSUs can be settled in class A
common stock on a one-for-one basis or in cash, or a combination thereof, at the Company’'s option. The Company
does not currently intend to settle any RSUs incash. During the vesting period, RSU award recipients are eligible to
receive dividend equivalents, but do not participate in the voting rights granted to the holders of the underlying class
Acommon stock. The company discontinued granting RSAs in fiscal 2016 but will continue to grant RSUs under the
EIR

The fair value and compensation cost before estimated forfeitures for RSAs and RSUs is calculated using the
closing price of class A common stock on the date of grant. No RSAs were granted during fiscal 2018, 2017 and
2016, The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $111.11,
£81.67 and £79.77, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of RSAs and RSUs vested during fiscal 2018, 2017
and 2016 was 3183 million, $163 million and $142 million, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the Company's RSA and RSU activity for fiscal 2018:

Welghted-
Average
Walghted- Remaining
Average Contractual Aﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂ‘
Grant Date Term alue M
Restricted Stock Fair Value (in years) {in millions)
Bowards Units RSA RSU RSA RSU RSA RSU
Cutstanding at September 30, 2017 466,007 4673701 § 6337 $ 80.37
Granted —  2B325E4 3 — S111.11
Vested (451,297) (1,937,132) § 6339 § ToT6
Forfeited (14,710) (365089) 5 7225 § 923
Qutstanding at September 30, 2018 — 5204454 % — § 9650 00 0B § — &7E1

" Calculated by multiplying the dosing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal 2018 of $150.09 by the number of instruments,

Al September 30, 2018, there was 3284 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 0.88 years for RSUs.

Performancs-based Shares

The following table summarizes the maximum number of performance-based shares which could be eamed
and related activity for fiscal 2018:

‘Welghted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Grani Dala Term Walya ™
Shares Falr Value {In years) {in milllons)
Qutstanding at September 30, 2017 937675 % 8420
Granted 641,498 % 120.11
Vested and earned (355,563) % 88.05
Urnearned (48,980) 5 76.07
Forfeited (175,214) & 108.05
Qutstanding at September 30, 2018 999,416 § 102.07 0.84 $150

" Calculated by mulliplying the closing stock price on the last rading day of fiscal 2018 of $150.09 by the number of instruments.
# Represents the maxdmum number of performance-based shares which could be earned,

For the Company's performance-based shares, in addition to service conditions, the ultimate number of shares
to be earned depends on the achievement of both perfarmance and market conditions. The performance condition
is based on the Company's earnings per share target. The market condition is based on the Company's total
shareholder return ranked against that of other companies that are included in the Standard & Poor's 500 Index,
The: fair value of the pedormance-based shares, incorporating the market condition, is estimated on the grant date
using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The grant-date fair value of performance-based shares grarted in fiscal
2018, 2017 and 2016 was 312011, $86.37 and £92.71 per share, respectively. Eamed performance shares granted
in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016 vest approximately three years from the initial grant date. All performance awards are
subject to earlier vesting in full under certain conditions.

Compensation cost for pefformance-based shares is initially estimated based on target performance. It is
recorded net of estimated forfeitures and adjusted as appropriate throughout the performance period. At
September 30, 2018, there was $54 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to urvested
performance-based shares, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately
0.94 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Visa Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP') permits eligible employvees to purchase the
Company’s class A common stock at a 15% discount of the stock price on the purchase date, subject to certain
restrictions. A total of 20 million shares of class A common stock have been reserved for issuance under the ESFR
ESPP did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial staterments in fiscal 2018, 2017 or 2016,

Mote 14—Commitments and Contingencies

Commifments. The Company leases certain premises and equipment throughout the world with varying
expiration dates. The Company incurred total rert expense of 3224 million, 3159 millien and 5134 milion in fiscal
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Future minimum payments on leases at September 30, 2018 are as follows:

2019 2020 021 2022 023 Thereafter Total
{im millions)

Operating leases 5 180 B 123 8 102 & 89 & 75 5 178 § 747

Deferred purchase consideration. On June 21, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Visa
Europe, In connection with the purchase, the Company will pay an additional €1.0 billion, plus 4% compound
annual interest, on the third anniversary of the Closing.

Mote 15—Related Parties

Visa considers an entity to be a related party for purposes of this disclosure if that entity owns more than 10%
of Visa's tofal voting common stock at the end of the fiscal year, or if an officer or employee of that entity also
serves on the Company's board of directors. The Company considers an investee to be a related party if the
Company's: (1) ownership interest in the investee is greater than or equal to 10% or (i) if the investment is
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, no entity owned maore than
10% of the Company's total voting common stock. There were no significant transactions with related parties during
fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Mote 16—Income Taxes

The Company's income before taxes by fiscal year consisted of the following:

2018 2017 2016
{in millions)

us. s B,088 = 8440 % 5 839

Mon-U.S. 4,718 3,254 2173

Total income before taxes s 12806 3 11,694 % 8012

U.S. income before taxes included 2.7 billion, $2.9 billion and $2.5 billion of the Company's U.S. entities'
income from operations outside of the ULS. for fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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Income tax provision by fiscal year consisted of the following:

2018 2017 2016
{in millions)
Current:
U.5. federal 5 2818 3 23T 8 2230
State and local 219 291 181
Mon-LLS. 754 629 368
Total current taxes 3,792 3,297 2,794
Deferred:
U.S. federal (1,214) 1,607 (508)
State and local (98) 66 (E3)
Mon-U.S. 23 25 (207)
Total deferred taxes {1,287) 1,658 {(778)
Total income tax provision 5 2505 £ 4995 S 2021

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities

at September 30, 2018 and 2017, are presented below:

2018 2017
{in millions)
Deferred Tax Assets:
Accrued compensation and benefits ] 136 S 194
Accrued litigation obligation 329 373
Client incentives 213 272
Met operating loss carmyforwards 34 45
Comprehensive loss 17 29
Federal benefit of state taxes 120 236
Cther 127 193
Valuation allowance {34) (35)
Deferred tax assets 941 1,307
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Property, equipment and technology, net (288) {391)
Intangible assets {5,153) {5, 756)
Foreign taxes {108) (59)
Deferred tax liabilities (5,545) (7, 206)
Met deferred tax liabilities $ (4,604) 5 (5,899)

The Tax Act, enacted on December 22, 2017, transitions the U.S. fax system o a

new territorial system and

lowers the statutory federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. The reduction of the statutory federal
corporate tax rate to 21% became effective on January 1, 2018, In fiscal 2018, the Company's statutory federal
corparate rate is a blended rate of 24.5%, which will be reduced to 21% in fiscal 2019 and thereafter.

As a result of the reduction in the federal corporate tax rate, the Company provisionally remeasured its net
deferred tax liabilities as of the enactment date of the Tax Act The deferred tax remeasurement is now complete

and resulted in a one-time, non-cash tax berefit of $1.1 billien, recorded in fiscal 2018,
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In transitioning to the new temitorial tax systern, the Tax Act requires the Company to include certain untaxed
foreign earnings of non-ULS. subsidiaries in its fiscal 2018 taxable income. Such foreign earnings are subject to a
one-time tax at 15.5% on the amount held in cash or cash equivalents, and at 8% on the remaining non-cash
amount, The 15.5% and B% tax, collectively referred to as the “transition tax”", was estimated to be $1.1 billion, and
was recorded in fiscal 2018, The transition tax will be paid over a period of eight years as permitted by the Tax Act.

The above-mentionsd accourting impact of the transition tax is provisional, based on currently available
information and technical guidance on the interpretations of the new law. The Company continues to obiain and
analyze additional information and guidance as they become available to complete the accounting for the tax impact
of the Tax Act. Additional information currently unavailable that is needed to complete the analysis includes, but is
not limited to, foreign tax returns and foreign tax documentation for the computation of foreign tax credits, and the
final determination of the untaxed foreign earmings subject to the transition tax. The provisional accounting impact
may change until the accounting analysis is finalized, which will cccur no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2019,
as permitted by ASU 2018-05.

The Tax Act also introduces several tax provisions, including:

« Tax on global intangible low-tax income, which, in general, is determined annually based on the Company's
agagregate foreign subsidiaries’ income in excess of certain qualified business asset investment return. This
pravision is effective for the Company on October 1, 2018 The Comparny needs additional information to
complete its analysis on whether to adopt an accounting pelicy to account for the tax effects of global
intangible low-tax income in the pericd that it is subject to such tax, or to provide deferred taxes far book
and tax basis differences that, upon reversal, may be subject to such tax. Hence, the Company has nat
recorded any tax on global intangible low-tax income in fiscal 2018. The Company will make an accounting
policy election no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2019

« Base erosion and anti-abuse tax, which, in general, functions like a minimum tax that partially disallows
deductions for certain related party transactions. This new minimurm tax is determined on a year-by-year
basis, and this provision is effective for the Company on October 1, 2018, Hence, no base erosion anti-
abuse tax has been recorded in fiscal 2018.

* Deduction for foreign-derived intangible income, which, in general, allows a deduction of certain intangible
income derved from serving foreign markets, This provision is effective for the Company on Qctober 1,
2018. Hence, the Company has not recorded the impact of this provision in fiscal 2018,

« Other new tax provisions, which disallow certain deductions related to entertainment expenses, fringe
benefite provided to employees, executive compensation, and fines or penalties or similar payments to
governments. The Company has recorded provisional amounts for the tax effects of these new provisions in
fiscal 2018, based on information currently available. The provisional amounts may change no later than the
first quarter of fiscal 2019, if additicnal information is cbtained and analyzed.

At September 30, 2018 and 2017, net deferred tax assets of $14 million and $81 million, respectively, are
reflected in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not
that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temparary
differences are deductible. The fiscal 2018 and 2017 valuation allowances relate primarily to foreign net operating
losses from subsidiaries acquired in recent years,

As of Septermber 30, 2018, the Company had $17 million federal, $21 million state and 5137 million foreign net
operating loss carryforwards. The federal and state net operating loss carmyforwards will expire in fiscal 2028
through 2037, The foreign net operating loss may be camed forward indefinitely. The Company expects to fully
utilize the federal and state net operating loss carnyforwards in future years.
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The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.S.
federal statutory rate of 24.5% to pretax income, as a result of the following:

For the Years Ended September 30,
2018 2T MG
Duollars Percent Dollars Parcent Dollars Percent
(in millions, except percentages)

LS. federal income tax at statutory rate $ 314 25 % 3 4,083 35 %% 2804 3B %
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 201 2% 200 2% 135 2 %
Mon-ULS. tax effect, net of federal benefit (465) (4)% {641) (5)% (553) (7Y%
Transition tax on foreign earnings 1,147 9% - — % — — %
Remeasurement of deferred tax balances {1,133) (9)% — — % (88) (1)%6
Revaluation of Visa Europe put option - — % — — 9% (a9 (1)%
R%or : nization of Visa Europe and other legal _ —% 1515 13 % _ — o
Cther, net (386) (3% {172) (2)% (188) (3)%
Income tax provision $ 2505 20 % 5 4995 43 9% % 2021 25 %

The effective income tax rate was 20% in fiscal 2018 and 43% in fiscal 2017. The effective tax rate in fiscal
2018 differs from the effective tax rate in fiscal 2017 primarily due to:

+ the effects of the Tax Act, which include the decrease in the fiscal 2018 federal statutory rate, the transition
tax, and the remeasurement of deferred taxes, as discussed above;

+ 5161 million of tax benefits due to various non-recurring audit settlements in fiscal 2018; and
+ the absence of the following items related to the Visa Europe reorganization recorded in fiscal 2017:

= @ £1.5 billion non-recurring, non-cash income tax provision primarily related to the elimination of
deferred tax balances originally recognized upon the acquisition of Visa Europe; and

= a %71 milion one-time tax benefit related to the Visa Foundation's receipt of Visa Inc. shares,
previously recorded by Visa Europe as treasury stock.

The effective income tax rate was 43% in fiscal 2017 and 25% in fiscal 2016, The effective tax rate in fiscal
2017 differs from the effective tax rate in fiscal 2016 primarily due to;

= the items listed above related to the Visa Europe reorganization recorded in fiscal 2017,

« 570 million of excess tax benefits related to share-based payments recorded in fiscal 2017, as a result of
the early adoption of ASU 2016-09; and

« the absence of:

= the effect of one-time items related to the Visa Eurcpe acquisition recorded during fiscal 2016, the
most significant of which was the $1.2 billion U.S. loss related to the effective settlement of the
Framework Agreement between Visa and Visa Europe. These one-stime items impacted the
geographic mix of global income, resulting in a reduced effective tax rate in fiscal 2016,

+ an 388 million one-time tax benefit due to the remeasurement of deferred tax liabilities as a result of
the reduction in the UK tax rate enacted in fiscal 2016, and

+ the non-taxable 3255 million revaluation of the Visa Europe put option recorded in fiscal 2016

Current income taxes receivable were 382 milion and 3148 million at September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively Mon-current income taxes receivable of 2689 milion and $755 million at September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively, were included in other assets. Income taxes payable of 5257 million and $243 million at
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were included in accrued liabilities. Accrued income taxes of 32.4
billion and $1.1 billion at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were included in other liakilities.
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The Company's operating hub in the Asia Pacific region is located in Singapore. It is subject to a tax incentive
which is effective through September 30, 2023, and is conditional upon meeting certain business operations and
employment thresholds in Singapore. The tax incentive decreased Singapore tax by $295 million, $252 million and
2235 million, and the benefit of the tax incentive on diluted earnings per share was 2013, 30.11 and $0.10 in fiscal
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

In accordance with Accounfing Standards Codification 740—Income Taxes, the Company is required to
inventory, evaluate and measure all uncertain tax pesitions taken or to be taken on tax retumns, and to record
liabilities for the amount of such positions that may not be sustained, or may only padially be sustained, upon
examination by the relevant taxing authorities,

At September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company's total gross unrecognized tax benefits were $1.7 billion and
£1.4 billion, respectively, exclusive of interest and penalties described below. Included in the £1.7 billion and 1.4
billion are 1.2 billion and $1.1 billion of unrecognized tax benefits, respectively, that if recognized, would reduce the
effective tax rate in a future period.

A reconciliation of beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefits by fiscal year is as follows:

2018 2017
{in millians)

Balance at beginning of period $ 138 8 1,160
Increases of unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years 3&e7 58
Decreases of unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years (233) (59)
Increases of unrecognized tax benefits related to current year 172 197
Reductions related to lapsing statute of limitations (1) (1)
Balance at end of period § 1658 = 1,353

It is the Company's policy to account for interest expense and penalties related to uncerain tax positions in
non-operating expense in its consolidated statements of operations. The Company recognized 515 million, $23
millicn and 215 million of interest expense in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, related to uncertain tax
positions. The Company accrued no penalties in fiscal 2018, and accrued $1 million and $3 million of penalties in
fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively, related to uncertain tax positions. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, the
Company had accrued interest of 399 million and 584 million, respectively, and accrued penalties of 334 million
related to uncertain tax positions in its other long-term liabilities.

The Company's fiscal 2012 through 2015 U.S. federal income tax return is currently under Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) examination, The Company has filed federal refund claims for fiscal years 2008 through 2011, which
are also currertly under IRS examination. Except for the refund claims, the federal statutes of limitations have
expired for fiscal years prior to 2012, The Company's fiscal years 2006 through 2011 California tax returns are
currently under examination. The California statutes of limitations have expired for fiscal years prior to 2008,

Cwring frscal 2013, the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) completed its examination of the Company's fiscal
2003 through 2009 Canadian tax returms and proposed cerfain assessments. Based on the findings of its
examination, the CRA also proposed certain assessments to the Company's fiscal 2010 through 2017 Canadian tax
returns. The Company filed nofices of objection against these assessments and, in fiscal 2015, completed the
appeals process without reaching a settlement with the CRA. In April 2016, the Company petitioned the Tax Court of
Canada to overtun the CRA's assessments. Legal proceedings continue to be in progress. The Company
continues to believe that its income tax provision adequately reflects its obligations to the CRA.

The Office of the Assistant Commissioner of Income Tax in India completed the examination of the Company's
income tax returns for the taxable years falling within the period from fiscal 2010 to 2015, and proposed certain
assessments, The Company objected to these proposed assessments and filed appeals to the appellate
authorities. While the timing and outcome of the final resclution of these appeals are uncerain, the Comparny
believes that its income tax provision adequately reflects its income tax obligations in India
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The Company is also subject to examinations by various state and foreign tax authorties. All material state
and foreign tax matters have been concluded for years through fiscal 2002. The timing and outcorme of the final
resolutions of the federal, state and foreign tax examinations and refund claims are uncertain. As such, it is not
reasaonably possible to estimate the impact that the final outcomes could have on the Company's unrecognized tax
benefits in the next 12 months.

MNote 17—Legal Matters

The Company is party to various legal and regulatory proceedings. Some of these proceedings involve
complex claims that are subject to substantial uncertainties and unascertainable damages. Accordingly, except as
disclosed, the Company has not established reserves or ranges of possible loss related to these proceedings, as at
this time in the proceedings, the matters do not relate to a probable loss andfor the amount or range of losses are
not reascnably estimable. Although the Company believes that it has strong defenses for the litigation and
requlatory proceedings described below, it could, in the future, incur judgments or fines or enter info settlements of
claims that could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash
flews. From time to time, the Company may engage in settlement discussions or mediations with respect to one or
more of its outstanding litigation matters, either on its own behalf or collectively with other parties,

The litigation accrual is an estimate and is based on management's understanding of its litigation profile, the
specifics of each case, advice of counsel to the extent appropriate and management’s best estimate of incurred
loss as of the balance sheet date.

The: following table summarizes the activity related to accrued litigation by fiscal year:

2018 a7y
{in milllons)

Balance at beginning of period 5 882 & 981
Provision for uncovered legal matters 7 19
Provision for covered legal matters 801 186
Payments for legal matters {158) {204)

Balance at end of period 5 1434 3 982

Accrual Summary—U.5. Covered Litigation

Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A and Visa International are parties to certain legal proceedings that are covered by the
LS. retrospective responsibility plan, which the Company refers o as the LS covered litigation. See Nofe 2—U.5.
and Eurcpe Retrospeciive Responsibility Plans. An accrual for the U5, covered litigation and a charge to the
litigation provision are recorded when a loss is deemed to be probable and reasonably estimable. In making this
determination, the Company evaluates available information, including but not limited to actions taken by the
litigation committee. The total accrual related to the U.S. covered litigation could be either higher or lower than the
escrow account balance.

The following table summarizes the accrual activity related to U.S. covered litigation by fiscal year:

2018 27
{In milllons)

Balance at beginning of penod 5 878 = arh
Provision for interchange multidistrict litigation 600 —_
Fayments for U.S. coverad litigation (150) —_

Balance at end of period 5 1428 2 =
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During the second quarter of fiscal 2014, pursuant to the 2012 Settlement Agreement approved by the MOL
1720 court on January 14, 2014, the Company recorded a §1.1 billion accrual to address “opt-out”® claims for
merchants who opted out of the original class setflerment agreement. An additional accrual of 2450 million
associated with these opt-out claims was recorded in the fourth quarnter of fiscal 2014, During the third quarter of
fiscal 2018, pursuant to an amended setllement agreement that superseded the 2012 Settlement Agreement, the
Company recorded an additional accrual and deposited $500 million into the U.S. litigation escrow account. See
further discussion below under Interchange Mulhdistnet Liigation (MDL) — Individual Merchant Actions and Nofe
2—U. 8. and Europe Retrospective Responsibilify Flans.

Accrual Summary—VE Territory Covered Litigation

Visa Inc., Visa International and Visa Europe are parties to certain legal proceedings that are covered by the
Europe retrospective responsibility plan. Unlike the U.S. retrospective responsibility plan, the Europe retrospective
respansibility plan does not have an escrow account that is used to fund settlements or judgments. The Company is
entitled to recover VE territory covered losses through a periodic adjustrment to the conversion rates applicable to
the UKEI preferred stock and Europe preferred stock, An accrual for the VE territory covered loszes and a reduction
to stockholders' equity will be recorded when the loss is deemed to be probable and reasonably estimable. See
further discussion below under VE Terrtory Covered Litigation and Note 2—U.S. and Europe Relrospeciive
Responsibility Flans.

The following table summarizes the accrual activity related to VE territory covered litigation by fiscal year,

2018 amT
{in millions)

Balance at beginning of period $ 13 2
Accrual for VE terntory covered litigation 1 186
Payments for VE territory covered litigation (2) {187)

Balance at end of period 5 — 5 1

U.8. Covered Litigation
Interchange Multidistrict Litigation (MDL) — Fulative Class Actions

Beginning in May 2005, a series of complaints (the majority of which were styled as class actions) were filed in
U5, federal district courts by merchants against Visa U.S A | Visa International and/or MasterCard, and in some
cases, certain U.S. financial institutions. The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation issuad an order transferring the
cases to the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York for coordination of pre-trial proceedings in MDOL
1720. A group of purported class plaintiffs subsequently filed amended and supplemental class complaints. The
individual and class complaints generally challenged, among other things, Visa's and MasterCard's purported
seltting of interchange reimbursement fees, their "no surcharge" and honor-all-cards rules, alleged tying and
bundiing of transaction fees, and Visa's reorganization and IPO, under the federal antitrust laws and, in some
cases, certain state unfair competition laws. The complaints sought money damages, declaratory and injunctive
relief, attormmeys' fees and, in one instance, an order that the IPO be unwound,

Visa Inc., Visa LS A, Visa Internaticnal, MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard International Incorporated,
various LS financial institution defendants, and the class plaintiffs signed a settlement agreement (the “2012
Seftlement Agreement”) to resclve the class plaintiffs' claims. Pursuant to the 2012 Seftlernent Agreement, the
Company deposited approximately 4.0 bilion from the LS. litigation escrow account and approximately $500
million attributable to interchange reductions for an eight-rmonth period into settlerment accounts established under
the 2012 Settlement Agreement.

Subsequently, Visa received from the Court and deposited into the Comparny's LS. litigation escrow account
"takedown payments" of approximately 1.1 billion. On June 30, 2016, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit vacated the lower court's certification of the merchant class and reversed the approval of the settlement. The
Second Circuit determined that the class plaintiffs were inadequately represented, and remanded the case to the
lower court for further proceedings.
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On remand, the district court entered an order appointing interim counsel for two putative classes of plaintiffs, a
“Damages Class” and an “Injunctive Relief Class.” Thereafter, a new group of purported class plaintiffs, acting on
behalf of the putative Injunctive Relief Class, filed a class action complaint seeking declaratory and injunctive relief,
as well as attorneys’ fees. That complaint seeks, among other things, an injunction against: the sefting of default
interchange rates; certain Visa operating rules relating to merchants, including the honor-all-cards rule; and various
transaction fees, including the fixed acquirer network fee. The complaint names as defendants Visa Inc.,
MasterCard Incorporated and MasterCard International Incorporated, and cerain US. financial institutions. In
addition, the plaintiffs purporting to act on behalf of the putative Damages Class filed a Third Consclidated Amended
Class Action Complaint, seeking money damages and attorneys’ fees, among other relief.

On Septermber 17, 2018, Visa, MasterCard, and certain U.S. financial institutions reached an agreement with
plaintiffs purporting to act on behalf of the putative Damages Class to resoive all Damages Class claims (the
“Amended Settlement Agreement”), subject to court appraval. The Amended Settlerment Agreement supersedeas the
2012 Settlernent Agreement and includes, among other terms, a release from paricipating class members for
liability arising out of conduct alleged by the Damages Class in the litigation, including claims that accrue no later
than five years after the Amended Settiement Agreement becomes final Participating class members will not
release injunctive relief claims as a named representative or non-representative class member in the putative
Injunctive Relief Class. The Amended Settlernent Agreement also requires an additional settlement payment from all
defendants totaling 3900 million, with the Company's share of 3800 million to be paid from the Comparny's litigation
escrow account established pursuant to the Company's retrospective responsibility plan, See Note 2—U.8 and
Europe Retrospective Responsibility Flans. The additional settlement payment will be added to the approximately
£5.3 billion previously deposited into seftlement accounts by the defendants pursuant to the 2012 Settlement
Agreemert. If more than 15% of class members (by payment volume) opt out of the class, up to 3700 million may
be returned to defendants (with up to 5467 million to the Company) based on the total merchant opt-out percentage.
Defendants may terminate the Amended Settlerment Agreement if more than 25% of class members (by payment
volume) opt out of the class.

Seftlement discussions with plaintiffs purporting to act on behalf of the putative Injunctive Relief Class are
ongoing
Interchange Multidistrict Litigation (MDL) — Individual Merchant Actions

Beginning in May 2013, more than 50 cases have been filed in or removed to various federal district courts by
hundreds of merchants generally pursuing damages claims on allegations similar to those raised in MDL 1720, A
number of the cases also include allegations that Visa has monopolized, attermpted to monopolize, andior conspired
to monopolize debit card-related market segments. In addition, some of the cases seek an injunction against the
setting of default interchange rates; certain Visa operating rules relating to merchants, including the honar-all-cards
rule; and various transaction fees, including the fixed acquirer network fee. One merchant’s complaint also assernts
that Visa, MasterCard and their member banks conspired to prevent the adoption of chip-and-PIN authentication in
the U.S. or otherwise circumvent competition in the debit market The cases name as defendants Visa Inc., Visa
U.8 A Visa International, MasterCard Incorporated and MasterCard International Incorporated, although some also
include certain U.S. financial institutions as defendants. On Ocotober 27, 2017, certain individual merchants filed
amended complaints that, among other things, added claims for injunctive relief and updated claims for damages.

In addition to the cases filed by individual merchants, Visa, MasterCard, and certain LS. financial institution
defendants in MOL 1720 filed complairts against certain merchants in the Eastern District of New York seeking, in
part, a declaration that Visa's conduct did not violate federal or state antitrust laws.

A number of the individual merchant actions have been seftled, and remain settled. Those settled merchants
are not members of the putative Damages Class for purposes of the Amended Settiement Agreement
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The individual merchant actions described in this section have been either assigned to the judge presiding
over MDOL 1720, or have been transferred or are being considered for transfer by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict
Litigation for inclusion in MDOL 1720. The court has entered an order corfirming that In re Payment Card Inferchange
Fee and Merchant Discount Antitrust Lifigation, 1:05-md-01720-JG-JO (E.D.M.Y), includes (1) all current and future
actions transferred to MDL 1720 by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation or other order of any court for
inclusion in coordinated or pretrial proceedings, and (2) all actions filed in the Eastern District of Mew York that arise
out of operative facts as alleged in the cases subject to the transfer orders of the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict
Litigation. These individual merchant actions are U.S, covered litigation for purposes of the US. retrospective
responsibility plan. See Nofe 2—UL5. and Eurape Refrospective Responsibility Plans.

The Company believes it has substantial defenses to the claims asserted in the putative class actions and
individual merchant actions, but the final outcome of individual legal claims is inherently unpredictable. The
Company could incur judgments, enter into setflements or revise its expectations regarding the outcome of
merchants' claims, and such developments could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial results
in the pericd in which the effect becomes probable and reasonably estimable. While the US. retrospective
responsibility plan is designed to address monetary liability in these matters, see Nole 2—U. S and Europe
Reifrospective Responsibiity Flans, judgments or seftiements that require the Company to change its business
practices, rules, or contractual commitments could adversely affect the Company's financial results.

VE Territory Covered Litigation
UK Merchart Liligation

Since July 2013, in excess of 400 Merchants (the capitalized term "Merchant,” when used in this section,
means a merchant together with subsidiary/affiliate companies that are panty to the same claim) have commenced
proceedings against Visa Europe, Visa Inc. and Visa Intemational primarily relating to interchange rates in Europe,
They seek damages for alleged anti-competitive conduct in relation to one or more of the following types of
interchange fees for credit and debit card transactions: UK domestic, Irish domestic, other European domestic,
intra-Eurgpean Economic Area andfor other inter-regional. As of the filing date, Visa Europe, Visa Inc. and Visa
Intermational have settled the claims asserted by over 75 Mercharts, leaving more than 300 Merchants with
outstanding claims.

A frial took place from MNovember 2016 to March 2017, relating to claims asserted by only one Merchant. In
judgments published in November 2017 and February 2018, the court found as to that Merchant that Visa's UK
domestic interchange did not restrict competition, but that if it had been found to be restrictive it would not be
exemptible under applicable law. In April 2018, the Court of Appeal heard the Merchant's appeal of the decision
alongside two separate MasterCard cases also involving interchange claims. On July 4, 2018, the Court of Appeal
overturned the lower court's rulings, finding that Visa's LK domestic interchange restricted competition and the
guestion of whether Visa's UK domestic interchange was exempt from the finding of restriction under applicable law
had been incorrectly decided. The Court of Appeal remitted the claim to the lower court to reconsider the exemption
issue and the assessment of damages. On July 31, 2018, both Visa and the Merchant applied for permission to
appeal aspects of the Court of Appeal's judgment to the Supreme Court of the United Kingdom.

In addition, over 30 additional Merchants have threatened to commence similar proceedings. Standstill
agreements have been entered into with respect to some of those Merchants' claims. While the amount of
interchange being challenged could be substantial, these claims have not yet been filed and their full scope is not
vet known. The Compary has learned that several additional European entities have indicated that they may also
bring similar claims and the Company anticipates additional claims in the future.

The full scope of damages is not yvet known because not all Merchant claims have been served and Visa has
substantial defenses, However, the total damages sought in the outstanding claims that have been issued, served
and/or preserved likely amount to approximately 52 billion.
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Other Litigation
European Commission Proceedings

infer-regional Inferchange nvestigation. Following the issuance of a Statement of Objections in 2009
concerning, among other things, the alleged default application of Visa Inc.'s inter-regional interchange fees to intra-
regional and domestic consumer debit and credit card transactions in the European Economic Area (EEA), the
European Commission (EC) served a Supplemertary Staterment of Objections (SSO0) on Visa Inc. and Visa
International in 2013 and a revised S50 in August 2017. The revised S50 concerns only the application of Visa
Inc's irter-regional interchange fees to transactions invalving Visa consumer debit and credit cards issued outside
of the Visa Europe region and used at merchants located within the EEA.

The EC continues to claim that inter-regional interchange fees violate EEA competition law and may impose
fines in the event that it adopts an infringement decision. The potential amount of any fine cannot be estimated at
this time. The EC may also require Visa to reduce the defaull inter-regional interchange rates the Company sets,
revise the Visa operating rules or the way in which the Company enforces its rules, or ctherwise modify the way the
Company does business. Visa responded in writing to the revised S50 in Novernber 2017 and an oral hearing was
held in February 2018. Visa continues to cooperate with the EC in its investigation.

All issues relating to intra-regional or domestic consumer debit and credit card transactions acqguired in the
EEA were settled by commitments offered by Visa Europe Limited in 2010 and 2014 respectively, and endorsed by
the EC. Those commitments have now expired, but the European Uinion rates an which those commitments were
applied remain subject to limits imposed by the European Interchange Fee Regulation,

DCC Investigation. In 2013, the EC opened an investigation against Visa Europe, based on a complaint
alleging that Visa Europe's pricing of and rules relating to Dynamic Currency Corversion (DCC) transactions
infringe EU competition rules. This investigation is pending.

Canadian Merchant Litigation

Beginning in December 2010, a number of class action lawsuits were filed in Quebec, British Columbia,
Ontario, Saskatchewan and Alperta against Visa Canada, MasterCard and ten financial institutions on behalf of
merchants that accept payment by Visa and/or MasterCard credit cards. The actions allege a violation of Canada’s
price-fixing law and various common law claims based on separate Visa and MasterCard conspiracies in respect of
default interchange and certain of the networks' rules. In 2015 and 2016, four financial institutions settled with the
plaintiffs. In June 2017, Visa, MasterCard and a fifth financial institution also reached seftlements with the plaintiffs.
Settlement approval hearings were held in 2018 and courts in each of the five provinces approved the settlements.
Wal-Mart Canada and/or Home Depot of Canada Inc. have filed notices of appeal of the British Columbia, Ontaria,
Saskatchewan and Alberta decisions approving the settlements.

LS. ATM Access Fea Litigation

National! ATM Council Class Achon. In October 2011, the Mational ATM Council and thirteen non-bank ATM
operators filed a purported class action lawsuit against Visa (Visa Inc., Visa Intermnational, Visa US A and Plus
Systemn, Inc.) and MasterCard in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. The complaint challenges Visa's
rule (and a similar MasterCard rule) that if an ATM operator chooses to charge consumers an access fee for a Visa
or Plus transaction, that fee cannot be greater than the access fee charged for transactions on other networks.
Flaintiffs claim that the rule viplates Section 1 of the Sherman Act, and seek treble damages, injunctive relief, and
attorneys' fees.

Consumer Class Actions. In October 2011, a purported consumer class action was filed against Visa and
MasterCard in the same federal court challenging the same ATM access fee rules. Two other purported consumer
class actions challenging the rules, later combined, were also filed in October 201 in the same federal court
naming Yisa, MasterCard and three financial institutions as defendants. Plairtiffs seek treble damages, restitution,
injunctive relief, and attorneys' fees where available under federal and state law, including under Section 1 of the
Sherman Act and consumer protection statutes,

These cases are proceeding in the district court.
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U & Department of Justice Civil Investigative Demarnd

On March 13, 2012, the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice (the "Division”) issued a
Civil Investigative Demand, or "CID” to Visa Inc. seeking documents and information regarding a potential vielation
of Section 1 or 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 US.C §§ 1, 2 The CID focuses on PIN-Authenticated Visa Debit and
Visa's competitive responses to the Dodd-Frank Act, including Visa's fixed acquirer network fee. Visa is cooperating
with the Division in connection with the CID.

Fulse Network

Cn Movember 25, 2014, Pulse MNetwork LLC filed suit against Visa Inc. in federal district court in Texas. Pulse
alleges that Visa has, among other things, monopolized and attempted to monopolize debit card network services
markets. Pulse seeks unspecified treble damages, attorneys’ fees and injunctive relief, including to enjoin the fixed
acquirer network fee structure, Visa's conduct regarding PIN-Authenticated Visa Debit and Visa agreements with
merchants and acquirers relating to debit acceptance. On August 31, 2018, the court granted Visa's motion for
summary judgment, finding that Pulse did not have standing to pursue its claims, On September 28, 2018, Puise
filed a notice of appeal seeking review of the district court's summary judgment decision by the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.

EMV Chip Liability Shift

Following their initial complaint filed on March 8, 2018, B&R Supermarket, Inc., d/bva Milam's Market, and
Grove Liquors LLC filed an amended class action complaint on July 15, 2016, against Visa Inc., Visa US A,
MasterCard, Discover, American Express, EMVCo and cerain financial institutions in the LS. District Court far the
Morthern District of California. The amended complaint asserts that defendants, through EMVYCo, conspired to shift
liakility for fraudulert, faulty or otherwise rejected payment card transactions from defendants to the purported class
of merchants, defined as those merchants throughout the United States who have been subjected to the "Liability
Shift” since October 2015. Flaintiffs claim that the so-called “Liability Shift" violates Sections 1 and 3 of the Sherman
Act and certain state laws, and seek treble damages, injunctive relief and attorneys' fees,

EMVCo and the financial institution defendants were dismissed, and the matter was subsequently transferred
to the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Mew York, which has clarified that this case is not part of MDL
1720,

Plaintiffs filed a renewed motion for class certification on July 16, 2018, following an earlier denial of the motion
without prejudice.

Kroger

Cn June 27, 2016, The Kroger Co. ("Kroger') filed a lawsuit against Visa Inc. in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of Ohio. After grarting a motion to dismiss filed by Visa, Kroger filed an amended complaint
seeking a declaratory judgment that certain of its actions or policies with respect to its acceptance of Visa debit
cards did not violate a commercial agreement between Kroger and Visa, and seeking monetary damages under
state law. On Movember 13, 2017, Visa filed 2 maotion to dismiss the amended complaint, and Kroger subsequently
sought leave to file a second amended complaint The parties have stipulated that the litigation, including
consideration of that maotion, be stayed until December 4, 2018

Nuts for Candy

On April 5, 2017, plaintiff Muts for Candy, on behalf of itself and a putative class of California merchants that
have accepted Visa-branded cards since January 1, 2004, filed a lawsuit against Visa Inc., Visa International and
Visa U.S A in California state court Muts for Candy pursues claims under California state antitrust and unfair
business statutes, seeking damages, costs and other remedies. Subject to the court's approval, Visa and Muts for
Candy have reached an agreement to resolve Muts for Candy's claims in connection with the settlerment of the
putative Damages Class claims discussed above in Interchange Multidistrict Likigation (MDL) — Putative Class
Actions.
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Korea Fair Trade Commission

Following complaints lodged by certain financial institutions in Korea, in Movember 2016, the Korea Fair Trade
Commission (KFTC) intiated an investigation into certain pricing changes applicable to Visa financial institutions in
Korea. In August 2018, the KFTC notified Visa that the KFTC determined that the pricing changes did not violate
Kaorean law and the investigation was closed.

Ohio Aftorney General Civil Investigative Demand

On January 18, 2017, the State of Chio Office of the Attormey General issued an investigative demand to Visa
seeking documents and information focusing on Visa's rules related to the acceptance of Visa debit cards, as well
as cardholder verification methods and the routing of Visa debit transactions, Visa is cooperating with the Attorney
General.

Brazilian Administrative Councll for Economic Defenss

On October 15, 2018, the Brazilian Administrative Council for Economic Deferse ("CADE") inttiated an
investigation against Visa, Mastercard, American Express and Elo seeking information regarding potential
competition law violations with respect to network rules that require acquirers to receive certain information from
payment facilitators. Visa is cooperating with CADE.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables show selected quarterly operating results for each quarter and full year of fiscal 2018 and
2017 for the Company:

Quarter Ended (unaudited) Fiscal Year

Seplember 30, Jume 30, March 31, December 31,
Visa Inc. 20180 201810 g 204 7l 2018 Total

{in milllons, except per share data)

Operating revenues 3 5434 % 5,240 % 5073 5 4852 5 20,609
Operating income 3 3406 3 2885 & 333 3 3327 & 12,854
Net income -] 2845 & 2329 § 2605 % 2522 & 10,301
Basic eamnings per share
Class A common stock 2 124 & 100 % 112 & 100 % 4.43
Class B common stock ] 201 & 166 & 184 & 177 & 7.28
Class C comrmon stock s 494 & 402 & 445 § 430 & 772
Diluted earnings per share
Class A common stock 3 123 & 100 5 111 5 1.87 5 4.42
Class B common stock 3 201 8 165 5 184 & 177 & 27
Class C common stock ] 493 & 401 & 446 § 429 § 17 .69
Quarter Ended (unaudited) Fiscal Year
. September 30, June 30, March 31, December 31,
Visa Inc. 2017 2my 2097 ™ 2016 2017 Total
{in milllons, except per share data)
Operating revenues ] 4855 % 4565 & 4477 & 4461 % 18,356
Operating income - 3212 & 3024 & 2808 & 3,100 5 12144
Net income ] 2140 & 2059 & 430 5 2070 & 6,699
Basic eamings per share
Class A common stock ] 091 & 087 & 018 § 0ge § 280
Class B common stock g 149 & 143 % 030 % 141 & 4,62
Class C common stock 3 362 & 346 3 072 3 343 3 11.21
Diluted earnings per share
Class A common stock 5 090 % 088 % 018 % 086 3 280
Class B common stock g 148 & 142 & 029 & 141 & 4.61
Class C common stock 5 361 % 345 & 072 & 342 3 11.19

M The Company's unaudited consolidated statement of operations nclude the impact of several significant one-time items, See Owarview
within ffem F—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finencial Condition and Reswlis of Operabions of this report
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Visalnc.:

We consent to the inclusion in this Securities Report on Form 8 of Visa Inc. filed with the Kanto Local
Finance Bureau of our report dated November 16, 2018with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Visa
Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended September 30, 2018, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Visa

Inc. as of September 30, 2018, and to the reference to our firm under the caption “VI. - Financial Conditions”
in this Securities Report.

/s KPMG LLP

Santa Clara, Cdlifornia
March 27, 2019
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Stockholders and Board of Directors
Visalnc.:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Satements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Visa Inc. and subsidiaries (Visa Inc. or
the Company) as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the yearsin the three-year period ended
September 30, 2018 and the related notes. We aso have audited Visa Inc.’s interna control over financia
reporting as of September 30, 2018, based on Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all materia
respects, the financial position of Visa Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2018and 2017, and the
results of its operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September
30, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, Visa Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financia reporting as of September 30,
2018, based on Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Basis for Opinions

Visa Inc.’s management is responsible for these consolidated financia statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for their assessment of the effectiveness of interna
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isto express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financia reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financia statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the

financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2007.

Santa Clara, Cdlifornia
November 16, 2018
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